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Chapter I
The Macquarie

I F THE SEARCHERS FOR CAPTAIN GRANT EVER FULLY DESPAIRED OF FINDING HIM, SURELY
this was the moment. Where in the world should their next expedition take
them? How were they to explore unknown countries? The Duncan was no longer in
their possession, so they couldn’t even return immediately to Scotland. The
undertaking of these generous Scots had failed. Failure! A sad word that finds no
echo in a valiant soul, and yet, under the blows of fate, Glenarvan must have
acknowledged his powerlessness to continue his quest of mercy.

Mary Grant had the courage, under the circumstances, not to speak of her
father. She restrained her anxieties by thinking of the unfortunate crew that had
just perished. The girl faded before the friend, and it was she who consoled Lady
Glenarvan, after receiving so many consolations! She was the first to speak of
returning to Scotland. To see her so courageous, so resigned, filled John Mangles
with admiration. He wanted to give her one last word of hope for Captain Grant,
but Mary stopped him with a look.

“No, Mr. John,” she said. “Let’s think of those others who have devoted
themselves to the quest. Lord Glenarvan must return to Europe!”

“You are right, Miss Mary,” said John Mangles. “It must be done. It is also
necessary to inform the English authorities of the fate of the Duncan. But do not
give up hope. Rather than abandoning them, I will take up the search, alone. I will
find Captain Grant, or I will die trying!”

It was a serious commitment that John Mangles made. Mary accepted it, and
she held out her hand toward the young captain’s, as if to ratify the treaty. On John
Mangles’s part, it was a dedication of his whole life. From Mary, undying gratitude.

It was decided that they would depart Eden, immediately. They resolved to
reach Melbourne without delay. The next day, John went to inquire if any ships
would be sailing, soon. He expected to find frequent communications between
Eden and the capital of Victoria.

He was disappointed. Ships were scarce. Three or four ships, anchored in
Twofold Bay, made up the entire merchant fleet of the place. None were sailing to
Melbourne, Sydney, or Point de Galle, in Ceylon. From any of these ports,
Glenarvan could expect to find ships taking passengers to Europe. Indeed, the
Peninsular and Oriental Steam Navigation Company has a regular service of



steamers between these ports and England.

What was to be done in this situation? Wait for a ship? They could wait a long
time, because Twofold Bay is little frequented. How many ships passed offshore
and never come into the port?

After much thought and discussion, Glenarvan nearly decided to go to Sydney
by road along the coast, when Paganel made a suggestion that no one expected.

The geographer had visited Twofold Bay, himself. He knew that no ships were
sailing for Sydney or Melbourne. But of these three anchored ships, one was
preparing to leave for Auckland, the capital of Te Ika-a-Maui, the northern island
of New Zealand. Paganel proposed to take that ship to Auckland, whence it would
be easy to return to Europe by the ships of the Peninsular Company.

This proposal was given serious consideration. Paganel, somewhat unusually
for him, did not present a long list of arguments in favour of the idea. He confined
himself to stating the fact, and adding that the crossing would not last more than
five or six days. The distance from Australia to New Zealand is not much more than
a thousand miles.1

By a strange coincidence, Auckland was located precisely on the 37t parallel
which the searchers had been stubbornly following from the coast of Araucania.
The geographer might have fairly used this fact to bolster an argument that they
should follow his suggestion. It presented a natural opportunity to visit New
Zealand.

Paganel did not argue this advantage, however. After two successive
disappointments, he did not want to risk presenting a third interpretation of the
document. Besides, what could he argue? The document seemed clear that a
continent served as Captain Grant’s refuge, not an island. And New Zealand was
definitely an island. This seemed decisive. Be that as it may, whether for this
reason, or another, Paganel did not attach any new idea of exploration to his
proposition of going to Auckland. He only remarked that regular communication
existed between this point and Great Britain, and that it would be easy to take
advantage of it.

John Mangles supported Paganel’s proposal. He advised its adoption, since it
was impossible to say how long they’d have to wait for a ship at Twofold Bay. But
before making any final commitment, he thought it proper to visit the ship
indicated by the geographer. He took a boat with Glenarvan, Major MacNabbs,
Paganel, and Robert, and in a few strokes of the oars, they docked at the ship
anchored not far from the whart.



It was a 250 tonne brig, named
Macquarie. She was doing cabotage
between the different ports of Australia and
New Zealand. The captain, or, more rightly,
the “master,” received his visitors rather
roughly. They saw that they were dealing
with an uneducated man. His manners did
not distinguish him from the five sailors by
his side. A big red face, thick hands, a
crushed nose, a flattened eye, lips dirty with
the pipe, with that brutal look, made Will
Halley a sad figure. But they had little
choice, and for a crossing of a few days, they
wouldn’t be too particular.

“What do you all want?” Will Halley
asked these strangers who were standing on
the deck of his ship.

“The captain?” said John Mangles.

“It’s me,” said Halley. “Next?”

“Is the Macquarie sailing for Auckland?”

“Yes. Next?”

“What is she carrying?”

“Anything she can buy or sell. Next?”

“When does she sail?”

“Tomorrow. On the noon tide. Next?”

“Would she take passengers?”

“That depends on the passengers, and if they were satisfied with the ship’s
mess.”

It was a brig, named Macquarie

“They would bring their own provisions.”
“Next?”

“Next?”

“Yes. How many are they?”

“Nine, including two ladies.”

“I do not have cabins.”

“We will make do with whatever deck space you make available.”
“Next?”



“Do you accept?” asked John Mangles, refusing to be put off by the captain’s
gruff manner.

“We’ll see,” said the master of the Macquarie.

Will Halley took a turn or two around the deck, clomping loudly in his heavy
hobnailed boots. He turned back suddenly to John Mangles.

“What will you pay?”

“What are you asking?”

“Fifty pounds.”

Glenarvan nodded.

“Alright. Fifty pounds,” said John Mangles.

“That’s passage only,” said Will Halley.

“Only the passage.”

“Food’s extra.”

“Extra.”

“Agreed. Next?” Will held out his hand.

“Huh?”

“The deposit?”

“Here’s half the price, twenty-five pounds.” John Mangles counted out the sum
for the master, who pocketed it without saying thank you.

“Be on board before noon, tomorrow,” he said. “Whether you’re here or not, I'm
sailing.”

“We will be here.”

This said, Glenarvan, the Major, Robert, Paganel, and John Mangles left the
deck, without Will Halley having even touched the watch cap2 stuck to his red
mop.

“What a lout!” said John.

“Well, I'm fine with him,” answered Paganel. “He’s a real sea dog.”

“Areal bear!” said the Major.

“And I imagine,” said John Mangles, “that this bear must have trafficked
human flesh, in his time.”

“What does it matter?” asked Glenarvan. “As long as he commands the
Macquarie, and the Macquarie goes to New Zealand. From Twofold Bay to
Auckland we will see little of him. After Auckland, we will see less.”

Lady Helena and Mary Grant were pleased to learn that the departure was set
for the next day. Glenarvan pointed out that the Macquarie did not match the



Duncan for comfort. But after so many trials, they were not women to trifle
themselves over something so petty. Mr. Olbinett was requested to take care of the
supplies. The poor man, since the loss of the Duncan, had often mourned that the
unfortunate Mrs. Olbinett had remained on board, and, consequently, fallen victim
with all the crew to the ferocity of the convicts. Despite this, he fulfilled his duties
as a steward with his usual zeal, and the “food extra” consisted of selected
provisions which were never usually included in the brig’s fare. In a few hours his
arrangements were complete.

Meanwhile, the Major went to cash some drafts that Glenarvan had on the
Melbourne Union Bank. He did not want to be devoid of gold, nor of arms and
ammunition, so he renewed his arsenal. As for Paganel, he obtained an excellent
map of New Zealand, published by Johnston of Edinburgh.

Mulrady was nearly fully recovered. He could barely feel the injury that had put
his life in danger. A few hours at sea would complete his cure. He intended to treat
himself with the breezes of the Pacific.

Wilson was responsible for the accommodation of the passengers on board the
Macquarie. Under the strokes of his brush and broom, the deckhouse changed
appearance. Will Halley, shrugging his shoulders, let the sailor do as he pleased. Of
Glenarvan, and his companions, he cared little. He did not even know their names
and did not care. This extra freight was worth fifty pounds to him, that’s all. He
cared less about it than the two hundred barrels of tanned leathers that filled his
hold. The skins first, then the passengers. He was a trader. As for his qualities as a
sailor, he was well practiced in navigating these seas, made very dangerous by coral
reefs.

As the day drew to a close, Glenarvan wanted to return to the point on the shore
crossed by the 37th parallel. He had two reasons to go there.

First, he wished to visit once more this presumed place of the shipwreck.
Ayrton certainly had been the quartermaster of the Britannia, and the Britannia
could have really been lost on the Australian coast. On the east coast, if not on the
west. The site of the possible wreck should at least be examined, while he had the
chance.

And even if there was no trace of the Britannia, there might be of the Duncan,
from when she had fallen into the hands of the convicts. There may have been a
fight. They might find traces of a struggle, of some last defence. If the crew had
perished in the waves, perhaps the waves had cast up some bodies onto the shore.



Glenarvan, accompanied by his faithful John, performed this search. The
master of the Victoria Hotel put two horses at their disposal, and they took the
north road around Twofold Bay.

It was a sad exploration. Glenarvan and Captain John rode without speaking,
but they understood each other. The same thoughts, and the same anxieties,
tortured their minds. They looked at the rocks, gnawed by the sea. They did not
need to question or answer one another.

John’s energy and intelligence ensured that every point of the shoreline was
scrupulously explored. The smallest coves were carefully examined. The sloping
beaches and sandy plateaus where the Pacific tides, however mediocre, could have
thrown a wreck were investigated. But no clue was found that might provoke
further searching in these parts.

No trace of a shipwreck was found.

Nor did they find any sign of the Duncan. All of this Australian coastline was
deserted.

John Mangles did discover obvious traces of an encampment on the edge of the
shore: remnants of fires recently lit under isolated myalls. Had a nomadic tribe of
natives camped there for a few days? No, because Glenarvan found indisputable
proof that the convicts had been on this part of the coast.

It was a grey and yellow tunic: worn, patched, a sinister rag left at the foot of a
tree. It bore a registration number from Perth Penitentiary. The convicts were no
longer there, but this sleazy castoff betrayed their passage. This livery of crime,
after having dressed some wretch, was rotting on this deserted shore.

“See, John!” said Glenarvan. “The convicts have been here! And our poor
comrades from Duncan...”

“Yes!” said John in a choked voice. “It is certain that they were not landed, that
they perished!”

“Scum!” exclaimed Glenarvan. “If they ever fall into my hands, I will avenge my
crew!”

The pain had hardened Glenarvan’s features. For a few minutes he stared
intently at the immensity of the waves, perhaps seeking a ship on the distant
horizon. Then his eyes softened, he became himself again, and, without adding a
word or making a gesture, he set off at a gallop, back to Eden.

Only one formality remained to be fulfilled: the declaration to the constable of
the events which had taken place. It was made that evening to Thomas Banks. This



magistrate could scarcely conceal his
satisfaction while writing down his minutes.
He was delighted by the departure of Ben
Joyce and his gang. The whole town shared
his contentment. The convicts had left
Australia — thanks to a new crime, it is true
— but they had left. This important news
was immediately telegraphed to the
authorities in Melbourne and Sydney.

His declaration completed, Glenarvan
returned to the Victoria Hotel. The
travellers passed their last evening sadly.
Their thoughts wandered over this fertile
land of misery. They remembered so many
hopes so legitimately conceived at Cape
Bernouilli, and so cruelly broken at Twofold
Bay!

Paganel was in a feverish state of ™ EEERCEEE==EEX —
agitation. John Mangles, who had watched They set off at a gallop, back to Eden
him since the Snowy River incident, felt that the geographer both wanted, and did
not want to talk. Many times he had pressed him with questions to which the other
had not replied.

That night, accompanying him back to his room, John asked him why he was so
nervous.

“John, my friend,” said Paganel, “I’'m no more nervous than usual.”

“Monsieur Paganel,” said John, “you have a secret that stifles you!”

“Well, what can I do?” The geographer waved his arms in the air. “It is stronger
than me!”

“What is stronger than you?”

“My joy on one side; my despair on the other.”

“You are happy and despair at the same time?”

“Yes, happy and despair to visit New Zealand.”

“Have you found some clue?” asked John Mangles eagerly. “Have you returned
to the lost track?”

“No, friend John! There is no return from New Zealand! But, nevertheless ...
well, you know human nature! We just have to breathe to hope! And my motto is




“spiro, spero,”3 which is worth all the most beautiful currencies in the world!”

1. About 400 leagues. (1,600 km — DAS)
2. A sort of oilcloth hat.
3. Latin: As I breath, I hope — DAS



Chapter 11
Some Words About the Country They Were to Visit

T HE NEXT DAY, JANUARY 27™, MACQUARIE'S PASSENGERS WERE SEATED IN THE BRIG'S
narrow cabin. Will Halley had not offered his cabin to the ladies. The lack of
manners was not regretted, because the den was worthy of the bear.

At half-past twelve, they sailed with the ebb-tide. The chain came taut and the
anchor was laboriously torn from the bottom. There was a moderate southwest
breeze. The sails were leisurely unfurled. The five men of the crew were moving
slowly. Wilson wanted to help them, but Halley begged him to keep quiet and not
to interfere with anything that did not concern him. He was used to getting by on
his own, and did not ask for help, or advice.

This last was addressed to John Mangles, who had smiled at the awkwardness
of the ship’s maneuvers. John took this in good stead, but privately reserved the
right to intervene, if the clumsiness of the crew compromised the safety of the ship.

In time, and with much swearing from the master, the crew got the sails set.
The Macquarie ran wide on the port tack, under her mainsails, topsails,
topgallants, and jibs. Later, the studsails and royals were hoisted. But in spite of all
the canvas, the ship made very little way. Her rounded bow, broad beam, and her
heavy stern, made her a very bad sailer: the perfect type of tub.

It was necessary to put up with it. Fortunately, even as poorly as the Macquarie
sailed, in five days, six at the most, she should reach Auckland harbour.

They lost sight of the coast of Australia and the lighthouse marking the port of
Eden at seven o’clock in the evening. The ship laboured in a heavy sea; she rolled
in the troughs between the waves. The violent gyrations made the passenger’s stay
below deck uncomfortable, but they could not stay on deck because of the heavy
rain. They were condemned to close confinement.

Everyone was left to their own thoughts. There was little talk. Lady Helena and
Mary Grant barely exchanged any words. Glenarvan was restless. He paced back
and forth, while the Major remained motionless. John Mangles, followed by
Robert, occasionally climbed to the deck to watch the sea. As for Paganel, he
murmured vague and incoherent words in his corner.

What was the worthy geographer thinking? Of New Zealand, to which destiny
led him. He reviewed all of its history; the past of this sinister country replayed
itself in his mind’s eye.

Was there in all this history a fact, an incident which could justify anyone



calling these islands a “continent”? Could a modern geographer, or sailor, give
them that name? Paganel’s thoughts always returned to the interpretation of the
document. It was his obsession, an idée fixe. After Patagonia, after Australia, his
imagination, triggered by a word, was bent on New Zealand. But one point, one,
stopped him in this tracks. “Contin’ ... ‘contin’ ...” he repeated, “but that means
continent!”

And he thought of all the sailors who had explored these two great islands of
the southern seas.

It was on December 13, 1642 that the Dutchman Tasman, after discovering

Van Diemen’s Land, landed on the unknown shores of New Zealand. He followed
the coast for a few days, and on the 17t his ships entered a large bay, terminated

by a narrow strait between the two islands.

The North Island was called Te Ika-a-Maui by the natives, which means
“Maui’s Fish”. The South Island is Te Waipounamu meaning “The Waters of
Jade”.1

Abel Tasman sent his boats ashore, and they returned accompanied by two
canoes carrying a noisy crew of natives. These savages were of medium size, brown
and yellow skin, with protruding bones, gruff voices, and black hair tied up in a
fashion similar to the Japanese, topped with a large white feather.

This first meeting of Europeans and natives seemed to promise long-lasting
friendly relations. But the next day, when one of Tasman’s boats was surveying an
anchorage closer to the land, seven canoes carrying a large number of natives
attacked it. The boat capsized and filled with water. The quartermaster who
commanded it was struck in the throat with a roughly sharpened pike. He fell into
the sea. Of his six companions, four were killed. The other two, and the
quartermaster, swam back to the ships and were saved.

Tasman sailed following this incident, confining his vengeance to firing a few
musket shots at the natives, that probably fell short. He left the bay, which is still
called Massacre Bay,2 went up the west coast, and on the 5t of January he
anchored near the northern tip of Te Ika-a-Maui. The violence of the surf, and the
hostility of the natives prevented him from taking on water. He left these islands,
to which he gave the name Staten Landt, that is to say, Land Of the States, in
honour of the States General, the Dutch Parliament.

Indeed, the Dutch navigator imagined that they were connected to the islands
of the same name discovered east of Tierra del Fuego, at the southern tip of



America. He thought he had found “The
Great Southern Continent.”

“But,” Paganel told himself, “what a
sailor of the seventeenth century might call
a ‘continent,’ a nineteenth-century sailor
would not! Such a mistake is inadmissible!
No! There is something that escapes me!”

For more than a century, Tasman’s
discovery was forgotten, and New Zealand
no longer seemed to exist, until a French
navigator, Surville, became acquainted with
it at 35° 37’ of latitude. At first he did not
have any complaints about the natives,
trading with them for fresh food to treat the
crew’s scurvy. Several of Surville’s sailors
were treated hospitably by a chief named
Ranginui when a storm stranded them
ashore at Whatuwhiwhi. All went well until
a few days later when Surville accused
Ranginui of stealing a yawl which had been cast adrift in the storm. Surville
punished the robbery by burning the village, and kidnapping Ranginui, to take
back to Europe with him.3 This terrible and unjust revenge was but a prelude to

some of the bloody retaliations New Zealand was about to witness.

On the 6t of October, 1769, the illustrious Cook appeared on these shores. He

anchored in Teoneroa Bay with his ship the Endeavour, and sought to rally the
natives by good treatment. But to treat people well, you have to start by catching
them. Cook did not hesitate to take two or three prisoners and impose his
beneficence on them by force. These, loaded with presents, were then returned to
the shore. Soon, several natives, enticed by their stories, came on board voluntarily
and traded with the Europeans. A few days later Cook made his way to Hawke’s
Bay, a large gulf on the east coast of the northern island. He found himself in the
presence of belligerent, screaming, provocative natives. Their demonstrations went
so far that it became necessary to calm them with a canister of grape shot.

On October 20, the Endeavour anchored in Tokomaru Bay, where there lived



a peaceful population of two hundred souls.
The botanists on board made fruitful
explorations in the country, and the natives
transported them to the shore with their
own canoes. Cook visited two villages
defended by palisades, parapets and double
ditches, which demonstrated serious
knowledge of fortifications. The most
important of these forts was situated on a
rock which became an island at high tide.
This was better than an island itself, for not
only did the waters surround it, but they
roared through a natural arch, sixty feet
high, on which this inaccessible “pa” rested.

On the 315t of March, Cook, having, over
five months, collected a vast harvest of
curious objects, native plants, and
ethnographic and ethnological documents,
gave his name to the strait which separates
the two islands, and left New Zealand. He
would return in his later voyages.
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On the 6t of October, 1769, the illustrious
Cook appeared on these shores

In 1773, the great sailor reappeared at Hawke’s Bay and witnessed scenes of
cannibalism. Here, we must reproach his companions for provoking them.
Officers, having found the mutilated remains of a young savage on the beach,
brought them on board, “broiled them,” and offered them to the natives, who
threw themselves on them with voracity. It is a sad whimsy to be the cooks for a
meal of cannibals!

Cook visited these lands which he particularly loved again on his third voyage,
wishing to complete his hydrographic survey. He left them for the last time on
February 25, 1777.

In 1791, Vancouver lay for twenty days in Dusky Sound, without any profit for
the natural or geographical sciences. D’Entrecasteaux, in 1793, explored twenty-
five miles of coast in the northern part of Te Ika-a-Maui. The merchant captains,
Hausen and Dalrympe, then Baden, Richardson, and Moodi, made brief visits, and



Dr. Savage collected interesting details of the customs of the Maori, during a five-
week stay.

It was in the same year, in 1805, that the nephew of the Chief of Rangihoua, the
intelligent Duaterra, embarked on the Argo, anchored at the Bay of Islands, and
commanded by Captain Baden.

Perhaps the adventures of Duaterra will provide an epic subject to some Maori
Homer. They were fruitful in disasters, injustices, and ill-treatment. Bad faith,
sequestration, blows and wounds are what the poor savage received in exchange
for his good services. What an impression he must have formed of people who call
themselves “civilized!” He was taken to London. He was made a sailor of the lowest
class, the butt of the entire crew. Without Reverend Marsden, he would have died
of grief. This missionary took an interest in the young savage, in whom he
recognized a sound judgment, a brave character, and marvellous qualities of
gentleness, grace, and affability. Marsden had his protege obtain some sacks of
wheat and farming implements to take back to his own country. These were stolen.
More misfortunes and the sufferings nearly overwhelmed the poor Duaterra again,
before he managed to return to his homeland in 1814. He was just beginning to
gather the fruits of so many hardships, when he died at the age of twenty-eight,
just as he was about to regenerate this bloody Zealand. Civilization was
undoubtedly delayed for many years by this irreparable misfortune. Nothing can
replace an intelligent and good man, who combines in his heart the love of good
with the love of his country!

New Zealand was abandoned until Thompson in 1816, Liddiard Nicholas in
1817, and Marsden in 1819, traversed various portions of the two islands, and in
1820 Richard Cruise, captain of the 84 Infantry Regiment, stayed for ten months,
making valuable contributions to science, and learning the customs of the natives.

In 1824, Duperrey, commanding La Coquille, anchored in the Bay of Islands for
a fortnight, and had nothing but praise for the natives.

After him, in 1827, the British whaler Mercury had to defend herself against
looting and murder. The same year, Captain Dillon was greeted in the most
hospitable way during two visits.

In March 1827, the commander of the Astrolabe, the illustrious Dumont
D’Urville, spent a few nights with the natives, safely and unarmed. He exchanged
presents and songs, slept in their huts, and undertook his survey work without
being troubled, which resulted in such beautiful maps for the Navy Ministry.

It went otherwise the following year for the English brig Hawes, commanded



by John James. After having touched the Bay Of Islands, he went on to the East
Cape, and suffered greatly from a perfidious chief named Enararo. Several of his
company suffered a terrible death.

Of these contradictory events, of these alternatives of mildness and barbarism,
it must be concluded that too often the cruelties of the Maori were only reprisals.
Good or bad treatment depended on good or bad captains. There were certainly
some unjustified attacks by the natives, but they were more usually provoked by
the Europeans. Unfortunately, the punishment fell on those who did not deserve it.

After D’Urville, the ethnography of New Zealand was completed by a daring
explorer who circled the world twenty times. A nomad, a Bohemian of science, an
Englishman, named Earle. He visited the unknown portions of the islands without
having personal difficulties with the natives, but he was often a witness to scenes of
anthropophagy. Maori devoured each other with disgusting sensuality.

This is also what Captain Laplace found in 1831, during his stay at the Bay of
Islands. Already the wars were much more formidable, because the savages used
firearms with remarkable precision. The once flourishing and populated lands of
Te Tka-a-Maui changed into deep solitudes. Entire tribes had disappeared as herds
of sheep disappeared, roasted and eaten.

The missionaries have struggled in vain to overcome these bloodthirsty
tendencies. As early as 1808, the Church Missionary Society had sent its most able
agents — it is the name that suits them — to the main stations of the northern
island. But the barbarism of the Maori forced them to suspend the establishment
of new missions. It wasn’t until 1815 that Messrs Marsden — the protector of
Duaterra — Hall and King landed at the Bay of Islands, and bought two hundred
acres of land from the chiefs for the price of twelve iron axes. This became the seat
of Anglican society.

The beginnings were difficult, but the natives came to respect the life of the
missionaries. They accepted their care and their doctrines. Some wild men
softened. A feeling of gratitude awoke in these uncivilized hearts. In 1824, it even
came to pass that the Maori protected their arikis,4 that is, the Reverends, against
savage sailors who insulted and threatened them with ill-treatment.

Thus, with time, the missions flourished, despite the presence of convicts
escaped from Port Jackson who demoralized the indigenous population. In 1831,
the Gospel Missionary Newspaper reported two large settlements, one at Kidikidi,
on the banks of a stream that runs to the sea in the Bay of Islands, the other in Pai-
Hia, at the edge of the Kawa-Kawa River. The natives converted to Christianity had



traced roads under the leadership of the arikis, cut tracks through the immense
forests, and bridged the torrents. Each missionary would in turn preach the
civilizing religion to the remote tribes, raising chapels of rushes or bark, schools for
the young natives, and on the roof of these modest constructions unfurled the flag
of the mission, carrying the cross of Christ and these words: “Rongo Pai”, that is to
say “The Gospel”, in the Maori language.

Unfortunately, the influence of the missionaries did not extend beyond their
missions. The whole nomadic part of the population escaped their operation.
Cannibalism was destroyed only among Christians, and these new converts should
not be subject to too great a temptation. The instinct for blood still pulses in them.

Moreover, a chronic state war still exists in in these savage countries. Maori are
not stupid Australians fleeing the European invasion. They resist, they defend
themselves, they hate their invaders, and an incurable hatred drives them at this
moment against the English immigrants. The future of these great islands hangs on
a throw of the dice. An immediate civilization awaits it, or a deep barbarism for
long centuries, according to the chance of arms.

Thus Paganel, his brain boiling with impatience, had replayed in his mind the
history of New Zealand. But nothing in this story gave a reason to call this country
consisting of two islands a “continent.” And though a few words of the document
had awakened his imagination, these two syllables ‘contin’ stubbornly blocked a
new interpretation.

1. Another Maori name for the South Island is Te Waka a Maui “Maui’s Canoe.” Together the islands are
known as Aotearoa “land of the long white cloud.”
The Hetzel note here was a "correction” to the name Verne gives in the text, though

Verne’s name for the South Island seems to be correct (allowing for variations in
spelling.) I've updated all the names in the text to match current spelling — DAS
2. Tasman named it Moordenaar’s Bay “Murderers Bay”. It was the French explorer Jules Dumont
d’Urville who changed the name to Massacre Bay. With the discovery of gold in the region, it was
renamed Golden Bay in the 1850s — DAS

3. Verne gives the chief the name of “Nagui-noui”, and says that the yawl was stolen. What actually
seems to have happened is that the boat had been cut adrift by the French after it got hung up on

some rocks, and then salvaged by Ranginui, who by Maori custom, laid claim to it — DAS
4. Ariki is a Maori word meaning “person of the highest rank and seniority” so giving this title to the
missionaries denoted their respect for them — DAS




Chapter III
The Massacres of New Zealand

O N THE 3157 OF JANUARY, FOUR DAYS AFTER SETTING SAIL, MACQUARIE HAD NOT YET
crossed two-thirds of the narrow sea between Australia and New Zealand.
Will Halley did not pay much heed to the handling of his ship. He let her sail
herself. He was rarely seen, not that anyone minded. It wasn’t even that
objectionable that he spent all his time in his cabin, if only for the fact that the lout
was drunk every day on gin or brandy. His sailors followed the example set by him,
and no ship ever sailed more by the grace of God than the Macquarie of Twofold
Bay.

This unforgivable carelessness forced g
John Mangles to keep constant vigilance. §
Mulrady and Wilson straightened the tiller
more than once as some sudden yaw nearly
laid the brig on its side. Will Halley often
berated the two sailors with strong swear
words for their actions. In response,
Mulrady and Wilson wanted to to confine
the drunkard to the hold for the rest of the
crossing. But John Mangles stopped them,
and with some difficulty calmed their just
indignation.

The situation of the ship worried him,
but in order not to disturb Glenarvan, he
only spoke of it to Major MacNabbs and
Paganel. MacNabbs sided with Mulrady and
Wilson.

“If you think it is necessary, John,” said
MacNabbs, “you must not hesitate to take
command, or at least take over the handling
of the ship. This drunkard can become master again after we disembark at
Aukland, and wreck it is his pleasure.”

“No doubt, Mr. MacNabbs,” said John, “and I will do it, if it is absolutely
necessary. As long as we are at sea, a little supervision is enough. My sailors and I
will not leave the deck. But, if Will Halley hasn’t sobered up when we approach the
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Mulrady and Wilson straightened the tiller
more than once



coast, I will be very uneasy.”

“Cannot you direct our course?” asked Paganel.

“It will be difficult,” said John. “Would you believe that there are no charts on
board?”

“Really?”

“Really. The Macquarie only operates between Eden and Auckland, and Will
Halley is so familiar with these waters, that he takes no bearings.”

“He imagines, no doubt,” said Paganel, “that his ship knows the way, and that
she steers herself.”

John Mangles laughed. “I do not believe in self-sailing ships, and if Will Halley
is drunk when we make landfall, he will put us in extreme danger.”

“Let us hope,” said Paganel, “that he will have recovered his reason in the
neighbourhood of the land.”

“So, if he hasn’t, you could not guide the Macquarie to Auckland?” asked
MacNabbs.

“Not without a map of this part of the coast. These shores are extremely
dangerous. It is a succession of irregular and capricious little fjords, like the coast
of Norway. There are numerous reefs, and it takes great experience to avoid them.
A ship, however solid, would be lost if its keel struck one of those rocks submerged
a few feet under water.”

“And in that case,” said the Major, “the crew would have no other recourse than
to take refuge on the coast?”

“Yes, Mr. MacNabbs, weather permitting.”

“A bitter end!” said Paganel. “For the coasts of New Zealand are not hospitable,
and the dangers of the interior are worse.”

“Are you talking about the Maori, Mr. Paganel?” asked John Mangles.

“Yes, my friend. Their reputation is known throughout the Pacific Ocean. It is
not a question here of shy or stupid Australians, but of an intelligent and
bloodthirsty race of cannibals, fond of human flesh. Of cannibals from whom no
pity is to be expected.”

“So,” said the Major, “if Captain Grant had been shipwrecked on the coasts of
New Zealand, you would not advise to search for him?”

“You might search the coasts for traces of the Britannia,” said the geographer.
“But not the interior. No, that would be useless. Every European who ventures into
these disastrous lands falls into the hands of the Maori, and every prisoner in the
hands of the Maori is lost. I pushed my friends to cross the Pampas, to cross



Australia, but I would never drag them onto the trails of New Zealand. May the
hand of Heaven guide us; pray to God that we are never in the power of these
ferocious natives!”

Paganel’s fears were only too justified. New Zealand has a terrible reputation,
and its history is stained with bloody incidents.

The martyr-roll of navigators numbers many victims to the New Zealanders.
Abel Tasman’s five sailors, killed and devoured, began these bloody annals of
cannibalism. After him, Captain Tukney and all his crew of boatmen suffered the
same fate. Towards the eastern part of the Strait of Foveaux, five fishermen of the
Sydney Cove also found death at the teeth of the natives. We must also mention
four men of the schooner Brothers, murdered at Molineux Harbour, several
soldiers of General Gates, and three deserters of the Mathilda, to arrive at the so
painfully famous name of Captain Marion du Fresne.

On May 11, 1772, after Cook’s first voyage, the French Captain du Fresne came
to anchor at the Bay of Islands with his ship the Mascarin, accompanied by the
Marquis de Castries, commanded by Captain Crozet.

The Maori gave an excellent welcome to the newcomers. At first they appeared
timid, and it took many presents, kindnesses, and a long period of regular
communication to put them at ease.

Their leader, the intelligent Te Kauri, belonged to the Wangaroa tribe, if
Dumont D’Urville is to be believed, and he was a relative of the chief treacherously
abducted by Surville, two years before the arrival of Captain du Fresne.

In a country where honour requires all Maori to obtain blood satisfaction for
suffered outrages, Te Kauri could not forget the insult made to his tribe. He waited
patiently for the arrival of a European ship, planned his revenge, and carried it out
with a cold-blooded ruthlessness.?

After first simulating fear of the French, Te Kauri continued to lull them into a
sense of false security. He and his comrades often spent the night aboard the ships.
They brought gifts of fish. Their daughters and their wives often accompanied
them. They soon learned the names of the officers and invited them to visit their
villages. Du Fresne and Crozet, seduced by such advances, traveled all over this
coast populated with four thousand inhabitants. The natives ran to meet them
unarmed and sought to inspire them with absolute confidence.

Captain du Fresne, anchoring at the Bay of Islands, intended to replace the
masts of the Marquis de Castries, badly damaged in a recent storm. He explored
the interior of the country, and on the 23™ of May he found a magnificent cedar



forest two leagues from the shore, and within reach of the bay a league from the
ships.

A camp was established there where two-thirds of the crew, equipped with axes
and other tools, worked to fell the trees and to build a road that led to the bay. Two
other posts were chosen: one on the small island of Moturua, in the middle of the
bay, where the sick of the expedition were transported along with the blacksmiths
and coopers from the ships; the other on shore, a league and a half from the
vessels. The shore camp was in communication with the carpenters’ encampment.
Vigorous and helpful natives assisted the sailors in their various labours at all of
these camps.

Captain du Fresne hadn’t overlooked taking some precautions. The savages
were never allowed to bring weapons onto the ships, and the boats that went
ashore were all well armed. But du Fresne and many of the most trusting of his
officers were fooled by the conduct of the natives and the commander ordered that
the boats be disarmed. Captain Crozet tried to persuade du Fresne otherwise, but
he did not succeed.

After this, the attention and the devotion of the New Zealanders redoubled.
Their chiefs and the French officers lived on a footing of perfect intimacy. Many
times Te Kauri brought his son aboard, and let him sleep in the ship’s cabin. On the
8th of June, during a solemn visit to the shore, du Fresne was recognized as “grand
chief” of the whole country, and he was crowned with four white feathers in his
hair.

Thirty-three days had passed since the arrival of the ships at the Bay Of Islands.
The work on the masts proceeded; the water tanks were filled with fresh water
from Moturua. Captain Crozet personally directed the carpenters’ post, and there
was every expectation of a successful enterprise.

On June 12th, at two o’clock, the commander’s boat was readied for a planned
fishing trip near Te Kauri’s village. Du Fresne embarked with the two young
officers, Vaudricourt and Lehoux, a volunteer, and twelve sailors. Te Kauri and five
other leaders accompanied him. No one could predict the dreadful catastrophe that
awaited fifteen out of the sixteen Europeans.

The crowded boat was rowed to shore, and was soon lost to sight from the two
ships.

Captain du Fresne did not come back to the ship that evening. Nobody was
worried about his absence. It was supposed that he had wanted to visit the masts
yard and spend the night there.



The following day, at five o’clock, the Marquis de Castries longboat made its
usual trip to the island of Moturua for fresh water. She returned on board without
incident.

At nine o’clock the sailors of the Mascarin saw an almost exhausted man in the
water, swimming toward the ships. A canoe went to his aid and brought him back.

It was Turner, one of the men who had gone with Captain du Fresne. He had
two spear wounds in his side, and he alone, of the sixteen men who had left the
ship the day before, returned.

He was questioned, and soon all the details of this horrible tragedy were
known.

The unfortunate du Fresne’s boat had docked at seven o’clock in the morning.
The savages came cheerfully to meet the visitors. They carried the officers and the
sailors who did not want to get wet on their shoulders when they landed. Then the
French separated from each other.

Immediately, the savages, armed with spears and clubs, rushed upon them, ten
to one, and massacred them. The sailor Turner, struck with two spear-thrusts, was
able to escape his enemies and hide in the undergrowth. From there he witnessed
horrible scenes. The savages stripped the dead of their clothes, opened their
bellies, and chopped them to pieces.

At this moment Turner, without being seen, threw himself into the sea, where
he was retrieved by the Mascarin’s boat.

This event consternated the two crews. A cry of revenge broke out. But before
avenging the dead, it was necessary to save the living. There were three posts on
the shore, and thousands of angry savages, hungry cannibals, surrounded them.

In the absence of Captain Crozet, who had spent the night at the masts yard, Le
Clesmeur, the first officer on board, took emergency measures. The Mascarin’s
boat was dispatched with an officer and a detachment of soldiers. This officer
must, above all, help the carpenters. He set off along the coast, saw Captain du
Fresne’s boat grounded on the shore, and landed.

Captain Crozet, absent from the ship, and knowing nothing of the massacre,
saw the detachment appear about two o’clock in the afternoon. He sensed that
something was wrong, went to meet them, and learned the truth. He ordered that
the others in the camp not be told what had happened, to prevent panic.

The savages, assembled in ranks, occupied all the heights. Captain Crozet
recovered the main tools, buried the others, set fire to his sheds, and began his
retreat with sixty men.



Natives followed him, shouting: “Te
Kauri mate Marion!”2 They hoped to
frighten the sailors by revealing the death of
their Captain. This made the sailors so
furious that Captain Crozet could barely
hold them back. They crossed the two
leagues to the shore, and embarked in the
boats with the men of the second camp.
During all this time, a thousand savages,
sitting on the ground, did not move. But
when the boats left the shore, the stones
began to fly. At once, four sailors, good
marksmen, successively shot down all the
chiefs, to the great astonishment of the
natives, who did not know the effectiveness
of the firearms. Captain Crozet rallied to the
Mascarin, and he immediately dispatched
the boat to Moturua Island. A detachment of
soldiers settled on the island to spend the
night there, and the sick were returned to the ships.

The next day, a second detachment came to reinforce the post on the island. It
was necessary to clear the island of the savages which infested it, and to continue
to fill the barrels with water. The village of Moturua had three hundred
inhabitants. The French attacked them. Six leaders were killed, the rest of the
natives retreated from the French bayonets, and the village was burned. The
Marquis de Castries could not return to the sea without masts, and Crozet, forced
to abandon the trees of the cedar forest, had to make joined masts. The watering
work continued.

A month passed. The savages made a few attempts to retake Moturua Island,
but did not succeed. When their canoes came within range of the ships, they were
cut down with cannon.

The work was finally completed. It remained to be seen if any of the sixteen
victims had survived the massacre, and to avenge the others. The boat, carrying a
large detachment of officers and soldiers, went to Te Kauri’s village. As they
approached, this treacherous and cowardly leader fled, wearing Commander du
Fresne’s coat over his shoulders. The huts in the village were carefully searched. In

Four sailors, excellent marksmen



Te Kauri’s hut, they found the skull of a man who had been recently cooked. The
impressions of the cannibals’ teeth were still visible on it. A human thigh was
skewered on a wooden spit. A shirt with a bloody collar was recognized as
belonging to du Fresne, then the clothes and pistols of the young Vaudricourt.
They found the boat-arms and more tattered clothes. Further on, in another
village, they found cleaned and cooked human entrails.

These irrefutable proofs of murder and cannibalism were collected, and the
human remains respectfully buried. Then the villages of Te Kauri and Piki-Ore, his
accomplice, were delivered to the flames. On the 14t of July, 1772, the two ships
left these fatal shores.

The memory of this catastrophe must be foremost in the mind of every traveller
who sets foot on the shores of New Zealand. It is a foolish captain who does not
profit from these lessons. New Zealanders are still treacherous cannibals. Cook, in
turn, recognized this well during his second voyage of 1773.

In fact, a boat from one of his vessels, the Adventure, commanded by Captain
Furneaux, having landed on December 170, in search of a supply of wild grasses,
did not reappear. A midshipman and nine men had manned her. Captain
Furneaux, anxious, sent Lieutenant Burney to look for them. When Burney arrived
at their landing site he found “A picture of carnage and barbarism, of which it is
impossible to speak without horror. The heads, the entrails, the lungs of many of
our people, lay scattered on the sand, and, very near there, some dogs were still
devouring other debris of this kind.”

To end this bloody list, we must add the ship Brothers, attacked in 1815 by the
New Zealanders, and Captain Thompson and all the crew of the Boyd, massacred
in 1820. Finally, on March 15t, 1829, at Whakatane, the leader Enararo looted the

English brig Hawes from Sydney. His horde of cannibals slaughtered several
sailors, cooked their corpses, and devoured them.

Such was the country of New Zealand to which the Macquarie sailed, manned
by a stupid crew, under the command of a drunkard.

1. The basic outline of events about to be described follows pretty closely with the generally accepted

account, but there is dispute about Te Kauri’s motives. Rather than his behaviour being a cold
blooded, calculated deception from the start, some believe that relations between the French and the
Maori were soured by series of offences against Maori traditions and beliefs by the French, and a
growing feeling that the French were taking too much of the local resources in their provisioning and

ship repair work. Eventually, Te Kauri decided that they’d gone too far, and decided to do something
about it — DAS

2. “Te Kauri killed Marion.”




Chapter IV
The Breakers

’ I \ HEIR SLOW VOYAGE CONTINUED. ON FEBRUARY 2ND, SIX DAYS AFTER HER DEPARTURE, THE

Macquarie still hadn’t raised the shores of New Zealand. The wind was fair,
from the southwest; but the currents were against them, and the brig hardly made
any headway. The hard, stormy sea strained her rigging; her frame creaked, and
she rose painfully from the troughs of the waves. Her badly managed shrouds and
stays left play in the masts, which shook violently with every roll.

Very fortunately, Will Halley, as a man in no hurry, did not crowd on more
sails, because if he had, all the rigging would inevitably have come down. John
Mangles hoped that this wretched carcass would reach port without any mishap,
but he suffered to see his companions so poorly installed aboard this brig.

Neither Lady Helena, nor Mary Grant complained, though continual rain
forced them to stay in the deckhouse. There, the lack of air and the rolling of the
ship made life miserable. They often came out onto the deck to brave the inclement
weather until the unbearable squalls forced them below again. They returned to
the small cabin more suited to lodge goods than passengers, and especially not
ladies.

Their friends tried to distract them. Paganel passed the time with his stories,
but he did not succeed much. Indeed, his stories of past visitors to New Zealand
further demoralized them. As much as the geographer’s essays on the Pampas or
Australia had been interesting, his stories of New Zealand left his audience
indifferent and cold. Moreover, they were not approaching this sinister country
voluntarily, with hope and enthusiasm, but under the pressure of necessity.

Of all the Macquarie’s passengers, the most unhappy was Lord Glenarvan. He
was rarely seen in the deckhouse. He could not settle down. His nervous, over-
excited nature did not accommodate itself to imprisonment between four narrow
walls. He remained on deck, day and night, without concern for the torrents of rain
or the high seas. Sometimes leaning on the rail, sometimes walking with feverish
agitation, his eyes stared incessantly at the sea. He scanned the horizon with his
telescope whenever the weather cleared enough to permit it. He seemed to
question the silent waves. He would have torn away the mist that veiled the
horizon with a gesture, if he could. He could not resign himself, and his face was
full of pain. He was an energetic man, hitherto happy and powerful, to whom
power and happiness were suddenly wanting.



John Mangles endured the harsh
weather by his side. Whenever a break in
the weather permitted, Glenarvan scanned
the horizon with more obstinate
stubbornness.

“Your Honour seeks the land?” asked
John.

Glenarvan shook his head, no.

“Nevertheless,” said the young captain,
“you must be getting tired of this brig. We
should have seen the lights of Auckland
thirty-six hours ago.“

Glenarvan did not answer. He was still
staring, and for a minute his telescope
remained fixed on the horizon to the
windward side of the ship.

“The land is not on this side,” said John
Mangles. “Your Honour should look to
starboard.”

“Why, John?” asked Glenarvan. “It’s not incessantly at the sea
the land that I am looking for!”

“What are you looking for, My Lord?”

“My yacht! My Duncan!” said Glenarvan angrily. “She must be there, in these
parts, skimming these seas, doing the sinister job of pirate! She is there, I tell you.
There, John, on this shipping lane, between Australia and New Zealand! And I
have a feeling that we will meet her!”

“God preserve us from that meeting, My Lord!”

“Why, John?”

“Your Honour forgets our situation! What could we do on this brig, if the
Duncan gave us the chase? We could not even run away!”

“Flee, John?”

“Yes, My Lord, though it would be in vain! We would be caught, delivered to the
mercy of those wretches, and Ben Joyce has shown that he does not back away
from any crime. Our lives would be worth nothing! We would defend ourselves to
the death, but then what? Think of Lady Glenarvan, My Lord! Think of Mary
Grant!”




“Poor women!” murmured Glenarvan. “John, my heart is broken, and
sometimes I feel despair invade it. It seems to me that new catastrophes are
waiting for us, that Heaven has declared itself against us! I am afraid!”

“You, My Lord?”

“Not for myself, John, but for those I love. For those you love too!”

“Don’t worry, My Lord,” replied the young captain. “We must not fear! The
Macquarie sails badly, but she sails. Will Halley is a dumb ass, but I'm here, and if
the approach to the shore seems dangerous to me, I'll bring the ship back off. On
that issue there is little or no danger. But God forbid we should find ourselves side
by side with the Duncan. If Your Honour seeks to to sight her, it should only be so
we can avoid her!”

John Mangles was right. Meeting of the Duncan would have been fatal to
Macquarie. Such a meeting was to be feared in these narrow seas that pirates
travelled without risk. That day, at least, the yacht did not appear, and the sixth
night since their departure from Twofold Bay came, without the worst fears of
John Mangles materializing.

But it was a terrible night. The darkness came on suddenly at seven o’clock in
the evening. The sky was very threatening. A sailor’s instinct overcame Will
Halley’s stupidity and drunkenness. He left his cabin, rubbing his eyes, and
shaking his big red head. He took a deep breath, as another would have swallowed
a glass of water to recover, and he examined the masts. The wind was freshening,
and turning a quarter to the west, carrying them directly toward the New Zealand
coast.

Will Halley loudly called his men, had the topgallants reefed, and set the night’s
sails. John Mangles silently approved. He had given up talking to this rude sailor,
but neither he, nor Glenarvan, left the deck. Two hours later, a strong breeze broke
out. Will Halley added another reef to his topsail. The maneuver would have been
difficult for five men if the Macquarie had not carried a double yard in the
American style. It was enough to bring down the upper yard so that the topsail
could be reduced to its smallest size.

Two hours passed. The sea was getting higher. The Macquarie was shaking to
her bilges enough to make one think her keel was scrapping on the rocks. It was
not the case, but her heavy hull struggled to rise up the waves. And crashing down
into the troughs, the sea swept over her deck. The longboat, hanging from the port
davits, disappeared with a wave washing over the deck.

John Mangles did not stop being worried. Any other ship would have played



with these waves, but this heavy boat was in danger of sinking. The deck was filling
with each dive, and the water wasn’t draining quickly enough through the
scuppers. This could sink the ship. It would have been wise to break the bulwarks
with an axe, in order to facilitate the draining of the deck, but Will Halley refused
to take this precaution.

A greater danger threatened the Macquarie, and it was too late to prevent it.
About half-past eleven John Mangles and Wilson, standing on the leeward side,
were struck by an unusual sound. Their seafaring instinct awoke. John grabbed the
sailor’s hand.

“The surf!” he said

“Yes,” said Wilson. “The waves are breaking on a bank.”

“Not more than two cables away?”1

“At most! We're near the shore!”

John leaned over the bulwarks, looked at the dark waves and exclaimed “The
lead! Wilson! The lead!”

The master, posted at the front, did not seem to suspect his position. Wilson
seized the lead line coiled in its pail, and rushed into the foresail stays. He threw
the lead; the rope ran out between his fingers. At the third knot, the lead stopped.

“Three fathoms!” shouted Wilson.

“Captain!” said John, running to Will Halley. “We’re on breakers!”

He didn’t wait wait to see Will Halley shrug in response. He rushed to the
rudder, to put the helm hard over, while Wilson, releasing the lead, hauled on the
sheets of the main topsail to luff the ship. John pushed the in-comprehending man
who was on the helm away from it with a sharp blow.

“Into the wind! Let loose! Let loose!” cried the young captain, maneuvering to
turn away from the reefs.

For half a minute, the brig’s starboard side ran parallel to the shore, and despite
the darkness of the night, John saw a roaring line whitening four fathoms from the
ship.

Will Halley, becoming aware of this imminent danger, lost his head. His barely
sober sailors could not understand his orders. His incoherent words, his
contradictory orders, showed that the stupid drunkard had lost all self-control. He
was surprised by his proximity to the land, which lay eight miles to leeward, when
he had thought it was thirty or forty. The currents had thrown him off his usual
course, and caught this miserable routinist off guard.

John Mangles’ quick maneuver had pushed Macquarie away from the breakers,



but John did not know his position. Maybe he was in a tight channel between reefs.
The wind was full in the west, and with every pitch they might run aground.

The sound of the surf redoubled off the starboard bow. They had to luff again.
John put the tiller hard over. The breakers multiplied under the brig’s bow. They
had to turn into the wind to get back out to sea. Could they do it in a poorly
balanced ship, under reduced sails? It was uncertain, but it had to be tried.

“Hard over!” shouted John Mangles to Wilson.

The Macquarie was approaching the new line of reefs. Soon, the sea foamed
over the submerged rocks.

It was a moment of inexpressible anguish. The foam brightened the waves with
phosphorescence. The sea was screaming, as if she possessed the voice of the
ancient sirens brought to life from pagan mythology. Wilson and Mulrady added
their weight to the tiller. They pushed it to its stops.

Suddenly, they felt a shock. The Macquarie had struck a rock. The bobstay2
broke, compromising the stability of the foremast. Could they complete the tack
without further damage?

No, for the wind suddenly calmed, and
the ship fell back to the leeward. Its turn
was stopped. A high wave lifted her up,
carried her further onto the reefs, and she
fell back with extreme violence. The
foremast came down with all its rigging. The
brig shuddered twice and then remained
motionless, listing thirty-five degrees to
starboard.

The porthole windows shattered. The
passengers rushed outside. But the waves
swept the deck from one end to the other,
and they could not remain there without
danger. John Mangles, knowing the ship
was firmly embedded in the sand, begged
them to go back into the deckhouse.

“The truth, John?” asked Glenarvan
calmly.

“The truth, My Lord,” said John The foremast came down, with all its rigging
Mangles, “is that we will not sink. As for being demolished by the sea, that’s




another question, but we have time to take counsel.”

“Is it midnight?”

“Yes, My Lord, and we must wait for the day.”

“Can we not put to sea in the boat?”

“Not in these waves, in the dark. It is impossible! And besides, where would we
land?”

“Alright, John, we’ll wait until daylight.”

Halley was running about the deck of his ship like a madman. His sailors who
had recovered somewhat from their stupor, smashed open a barrel of brandy and
began to drink. John foresaw that their drunkenness could soon bring terrible
scenes. He could not count on the master to hold them back. That wretch tore his
hair and wrung his hands. He thought only of his cargo, which was not insured.

“I am ruined! I am lost!” he cried, running from one side of the deck to the
other.

John Mangles scarcely thought of consoling him. He ordered his companions to
arm themselves, and stand ready to repulse the sailors, who were gorging
themselves with brandy, and uttering terrible blasphemies.

“The first of these wretches who approaches the cabin,” said the Major calmly,
“I will shoot like a dog.”

The sailors no doubt saw that the passengers were determined to hold them in
check, for after a few attempts at plunder, they disappeared. John Mangles no
longer worried about the drunkards, and waited impatiently for the day.

The ship was absolutely motionless. The sea slowly calmed. The wind was
falling. The hull could resist for a few more hours. At sunrise, John would examine
the shore. If it had an easy landing, the dinghy, now the only boat on board, could
be used to transport the crew and passengers. It would take at least three trips,
because it had room for only four people. As for the longboat, it had been carried
away by the sea.

While thinking about the dangers of his situation, John Mangles leaned on the
deckhouse, listening to the sounds of the surf. He sought to pierce the deep
darkness. He wondered how far they were from the land, both desired, and feared.
Breakers often extend several leagues from a coast. Could the frail little dinghy
withstand a long crossing?

While John thought on, hoping for a little light in the dark sky, the ladies,
confident in his word, rested in their berths. The immobility of the brig assured
them of a few hours of tranquility. Glenarvan, John, and their companions no



longer heard the cries of the dead drunk crew, who also seemed to be recovering
with a quick sleep. By one o’clock in the morning a profound silence reigned
aboard this brig, itself asleep on its bed of sand.

Around four o’clock, the first gleaming appeared in the east. The clouds shone
slightly under the pale glow of dawn. John went back onto the deck. A curtain of
mist hung on the horizon. Some indistinct contours floated above the morning fog.
A slight swell still agitated the sea around them, but the waves of the open sea were
lost amidst thick, motionless clouds.

John waited. The light grew gradually, the horizon became red. The curtain
slowly lifted from the vast backdrop. Black reefs jutted out of the water. Then, a
shoreline appeared as a strip of foam. A luminous point shone like a lighthouse as
the tip of a peak was lit by the still invisible disc of the rising sun. The land was
there, less than nine miles off.

“Land!” called John Mangles.

His companions, awakened by his voice, rushed to the deck of the brig, and
silently watched the coast which was revealing itself on the horizon. Hospitable or
fatal, it must become their place of refuge.

“Where is Will Halley?” asked Glenarvan.

“I do not know, My Lord,” answered John Mangles.

“And his sailors?”

“Missing, like him.”

“And like him, drunk, no doubt,” said MacNabbs.

“Look for them!” said Glenarvan. “We can not abandon them on this ship.”

Mulrady and Wilson went down to the crew quarters in the forecastle, and were
back within two minutes. They were empty. They searched the rest of the brig,
from the steerage, to the hold. They found neither Will Halley, nor his sailors.

“What! Nobody?” asked Glenarvan.

“Have they fallen into the sea?” asked Paganel.

“Anything’s possible,” said John Mangles, very concerned about this
disappearance. He headed toward the stern. “Let’s get to the boat.”

Wilson and Mulrady followed to help him with the boat. But the dinghy was
gone.

1. One cable is 100 fathoms, so two cables would be about 400 yards/metres — DAS
2. A stay underneath the bowsprit, to counteract the upward tension on the bowsprit from the jibs and
forestay — DAS



Chapter V
Improvised Sailors

W ILL HALLEY AND HIS CREW, TAKING ADVANTAGE OF THE NIGHT AND THE PASSENGERS’
sleep, had fled with the brig’s only boat. No one doubted it. This master,
whose duty obliged him to remain the last on board, had left first.

“The rascals have fled,” says John Mangles. “Well, all the better, My Lord. They
have spared us some annoyances!”

“I agree,” said Glenarvan. “Besides, there is still a captain on board, John, and
your companions are brave, if not skilful, sailors. Give us your orders. We are ready
to obey you.”

Major MacNabbs, Paganel, Robert, Wilson, Mulrady, and even Olbinett,
applauded Glenarvan’s words, and, standing on deck, put themselves at John
Mangles’ disposal.

“What should be done?” asked Glenarvan.

The young captain looked out over the sea, examined the incomplete masts of
the brig and, after a few moments of reflection, said “We have two options, My
Lord, to get us out of this predicament: to raise the ship and get back to sea, or to
gain the shore on a raft that will be easy enough to build.”

“If the ship can be raised, let’s raise it,” said Glenarvan. “That is the best option,
isn’t it?”

“Yes, Your Honour, for once on land, what would become of us without means
of transport?”

“Let’s avoid the coast,” said Paganel. “We must be wary of New Zealand.”

“Especially since we've drifted off course,” said John. “Halley’s carelessness has
brought us south, it’s obvious. At noon, I will make my sighting, and if, as I
presume, we are below Auckland, I will try to take the Macquarie north, along the
coast.”

“But what of the damage to the brig?” asked Lady Helena.

“I do not think it is serious, Madame,” said John Mangles. “We can set up a
makeshift mast to replace the foremast. We'll sail — slowly, it’s true — but we’ll go
where we want to go. If, unfortunately, the hull of the brig is ruptured, or if it can
not be floated free, it will be necessary to resign ourselves to gaining the coast and
to resume the way to Auckland on the shore.

“Let’s see the state of the ship,” said the Major. “It matters most.”

Glenarvan, John, and Mulrady opened the main hatch and went down into the



hold. About two hundred barrels of tanned skins were very badly stowed there.
They could be moved without much difficulty, by means of hoists attached to the
main yard, directly above the hatch. John had some of the barrels thrown
overboard to lighten the ship.

After three hours of hard work, the bilges
of the brig could be examined. Two seams
had opened in the planking on the port side,
at the level of the water line. The Macquarie
was listing to starboard, its port side
elevated, and the defective seams were in
the air, so that water could not penetrate.
Wilson quickly caulked the gaps in the
planks, and carefully nailed a sheet of = E——
copper over them to restore the seal.

While making their inspection they
found only two feet of water in the bilge. The
pumps would easily drain that water and
lighten the ship.

John concluded that the hull had
suffered little damage in the grounding. It
was likely that some of the false keel would = - :
remain embedded in the sand, but he could = = = =u

. . The Macquarie was listing to starboard
do without it.

After examining the interior of the ship, Wilson dove into the sea to determine
her position on the shoal.

The Macquarie had grounded on a steep sandbank, pointing in a northwesterly
direction. The lower end of her bow and about two-thirds of her keel were deeply
embedded. The stern of the ship floated in up to five fathoms of water. The rudder
was not embedded, and operated freely. John thought it was unnecessary to
lighten her a great deal. A real advantage, because they would be able to sail at the
first opportunity.

The tides are not very strong in the Pacific; however, John Mangles was
counting on the arrival of the flood to raise the Macquarie. The brig had grounded
about an hour before high tide. From the moment when the ebb tide was felt, her
starboard list had become more and more marked. At six o’clock in the morning, at
low tide, it had reached its maximum inclination. It seemed pointless to prop the




ship up on crutches. It was thus possible to keep the yards and other spars that
John intended to use to build a makeshift foremast on board.

It remained to make their preparations to free the Macquarie. It was long and
painful work. It was obviously impossible to be ready for the noon high tide. They
would only see how the brig would behave, partly emptied, under the action of that
tide, and they would make the push at the next tide.

“To work!” commanded John Mangles.

His improvised sailors were at his orders.

John first ordered the sails furled. The Major, Robert, and Paganel, led by
Wilson, went up the main mast. The main topsail, stretched under the force of the
wind, would have interfered with the floating of the ship. It was necessary to secure
it, which was done as quickly as possible. Then, after taxing work, severe on hands
that were not accustomed to it, the main topgallant was lowered. Young Robert,
agile and bold as a cat, was a great deal of help during this difficult operation.

It was then a question of placing an anchor, or perhaps two, in line with the
keel at the rear of the ship. The anchor’s traction would be required to haul the
Macquarie off the bar at high tide. This chore would be easy, if they had a boat.
Just carry out an anchor, and drop it at the predetermined point. But with every
boat gone, it was necessary to improvise.

Glenarvan was enough of a sailor to understand the necessity of this
undertaking. An anchor had to be set to extract a ship grounded by low water.

“But what do we do without a boat?” he asked John.

“We will use the remains of the foremast and empty barrels,” said the young
captain. “The task will be difficult, but not impossible, because the Macquarie’s
anchors are small. Once set, I hope that they won'’t slip.”

“Very well. Let’s not waste any time, John.”

Everyone, sailors and passengers, was called to the deck. They all took part in
the work. The rigging that still held the foremast was cut away with an axe. The
small mast had broken in its fall, so the crow’s nest could be easily removed. John
Mangles intended to use these spars to built the platform of a raft, supported with
empty barrels, and capable of carrying the anchors. A scull was fitted, which
allowed the raft to be steered. The ebb tide itself would help make it drift out
behind the brig. Then, when the anchors were lowered, it would be easy to get back
on board by hauling on the rope that stretched back to the ship’s deck.

This work was half finished when the sun approached the meridian. John
Mangles allowed Glenarvan to continue with the task, and turned his attention to



finding their position. This was very important to determine. Fortunately, John
found a very dirty sextant, with a almanac from the Greenwich Observatory, in Will
Halley’s cabin. It was good enough to take the sighting. He cleaned it up and
brought it to the deck.

This instrument, by a series of moving mirrors, brings the sun’s image back to
the horizon at the moment when it is noon, that is to say when the day star reaches
the highest point of its course. To operate the sextant you must aim its telescope at
a true horizon, where the sky meets the water. In this place, however, a point of
land to the north interposed itself between the observer and the horizon, making a
direct observation impossible.

When the true horizon can’t be sighted, it is replaced by an artificial horizon.
This is usually a flat bowl, filled with mercury, above which one operates. The
mercury presents itself as a perfectly horizontal mirror. John had no mercury on
board, but he overcame the difficulty by using a pail filled with liquid tar, the
surface of which reflected the image of the sun quite well.

He already knew his longitude, being on the west coast of New Zealand. This
was fortunate, because without a chronometer he could not have calculated it. The
latitude alone was lacking and he was able to obtain it.

He used the sextant to measure the meridian height of the sun above the
horizon. This was 68° 30’. The distance from the sun to the zenith was therefore
21° 30/, since these two numbers added together give 90°. On that day, February
314, the declination of the sun was 16° 30, according to the almanac. Adding this to
the zenith distance of 21° 30’, gave a latitude of 38°.

The position of Macquarie was thus determined to be 174° 45’ of longitude, and
38° of latitude, allowing for some insignificant errors produced by the imperfection
of the instruments, which could be ignored.

Using the Johnston map bought by Paganel in Eden, John Mangles saw that the
grounding had taken place at the opening of Aotea Bay, above Kawhia Point, on the
shores of the province of Auckland. The city of Auckland being situated on the 37th
parallel, the Macquarie had been diverted one degree to the south. They should
therefore go north one degree to reach the capital of New Zealand.

“So,” said Glenarvan, “a journey of eighty miles.! It’s nothing.”

“What is nothing on the sea will be long and difficult on shore,” said Paganel.

“So,” said John Mangles, “we do all that is humanly possible to float off the
Macquarie.”

Their position established, the work was resumed. High tide came at a quarter



past twelve. John could not take advantage of it, since his anchors were not yet set,
but he watched the Macquarie with some anxiety. Would it float under the action
of the flow? The question was going to be decided in five minutes.

They waited. They heard some crunches. The hull shuddered, but they didn’t
rise. John had good hopes for the next tide, but the brig did not move yet.

Work continued. At two o’clock the raft
was ready. The smaller anchor was loaded
onto it. John and Wilson boarded the raft
after mooring a rope to the stern of the ship.
The current carried them half a cable out
from the brig, and they lowered the anchor
in ten fathoms of water.

The position was good and the raft was
hauled back to the ship.

There remained the larger davit anchor.
It was loaded onto the raft with difficulty.
The raft was played out again, and soon this
second anchor was secured behind the first,
fifteen fathoms deep. John and Wilson
hauled themselves back to the Macquarie.

The anchor cable and hawser were fixed
to the windlass, and they waited for the next
high tide, which would be at one o’clock in e
the morning. It was then six o’clock in the They lowered the anchor in ten fathoms of
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evening. water

John Mangles complimented his sailors,
and told Paganel that, with courage and good conduct, he might one day become a
quartermaster.

Mr. Olbinett, after helping with the various tasks, returned to the kitchen. He
prepared a timely and comforting meal. The crew had worked up hearty appetites
that were fully satisfied, and everyone felt ready for more work.

After dinner, John Mangles made the final preparations to ensure the success
of the operation. Nothing should be neglected when it comes to freeing a ship.
Often, the attempt fails for the lack of a little more lightening, and the trapped keel
does not leave its sand bed.

John Mangles had thrown a large portion of the cargo into the sea, in order to



lighten the brig; but the rest of the barrels, the heavy spars, the spare yards, and a
few tons of pig iron which formed the ballast were carried to the stern, to lighten
the bow. Wilson and Mulrady also rolled a number of barrels which they had filled
with water to the stern, in order to raise the nose of the brig.

These last tasks were completed by midnight. The crew was exhausted, a
regrettable circumstance, at a time when they would need all their strength to turn
the windlass, which led John Mangles to revise his plan.

The breeze had calmed. The wind was scarcely able to raise a few ripples on the
surface of the water. John, looking at the horizon, noticed that the wind was
swinging around from the southwest to the northwest. It was unmistakable to his
sailor’s eye, from the disposition and colour of the bands of cloud. Wilson and
Mulrady shared their captain’s opinion.

John Mangles told Glenarvan of his observations, and proposed that they
postpone the floating.

“And here’s why,” he said. “First, we are all very tired, and we’ll need all our
strength to free the ship. Then, once free, how do we guide it to deep water through
these dangerous breakers in the dark? Better to do it in daylight. Another reason to
wait is that the wind is shifting to a more favourable quarter and I want to be able
to take advantage of it. I want the wind to blow us off, while the sea lifts us.
Tomorrow, if I am not mistaken, the breeze will blow from the northwest. We can
raise the sails on the main mast, and they will help to free the brig.”

These arguments were convincing. Glenarvan and Paganel — the most
impatient to be free — agreed, and the operation was postponed until the next day.
The night went well. A watch was set, especially to keep an eye on the anchors.

The day came. John Mangles’ weather prediction was accurate. A fresh breeze
blew from the north-northwest. It gave them an important aid. The crew was
assembled. Robert, Wilson, and Mulrady went to the top of the mainmast; the
Major, Glenarvan, and Paganel were on the deck, preparing the sails to be
deployed at the proper moment. The yard of the main topsail was hoisted to the
block, the main sail and the main topsail left furled.

It was nine o’clock in the morning. High tide was still four hours away. They
were not idle. John had them build a makeshift mast at the front of the brig, to
replace the foremast. This would allow him to maneuver away from these
dangerous shoals as soon as the ship was afloat. The work proceeded with renewed
vigour, and before midday the foresail was firmly secured to its mast. Lady Helena
and Mary Grant made themselves very useful, rigging a spare sail to the



topgallant’s yard. They were happy to work for their common salvation. The
rigging was completed. If the Macquarie left something to be desired from the
point of view of elegance, at least she could sail, as long as she didn’t venture too
far from the coast.

The tide rose. The surface of the sea rose in small, choppy waves. The heads of
breakers disappeared little by little, like marine animals ducking under the water.
The hour was approaching to attempt the grand operation. A feverish impatience
kept everyone on edge. Nobody spoke. Everyone looked to John, anticipating his
orders. John Mangles, leaning over the quarter deck, watched the tide. He glanced
anxiously at the braided cable and hawser stretching out to the anchors. At one
o’clock, the sea reached its highest point. It was steady for this short moment
between its rise, and beginning to fall again. It was necessary act without delay.
The main sail and the main topsail were dropped and combed the mast under the
force of the wind.

“To the windlass!” John shouted.

It was a windlass with twin cranks, like a fire pump. Glenarvan, Mulrady and
Robert on one side, Paganel, the Major and Olbinett on the other, leaned on the
handles that turned the mechanism. At the same time, John and Wilson, engaging
the breaker bars, added their efforts to those of their companions.

“Hardy! Hardy!” cried the young captain. “And all together!”

The cable and the hawser were stretched taut under the powerful action of the
windlass. The anchors held firm and did not slip. It was necessary to succeed
promptly. The high water only lasts a few minutes, and it would soon fall. They
redoubled their efforts. The wind gave a violent gust, and pressed the sails against
the mast. A few tremors were felt in the hull. The brig seemed ready to rise.
Perhaps one more arm would be enough to pull her off the sandbar.

“Helena! Mary!” Glenarvan shouted.

The two young women joined their efforts to those of their companions. A last
click of the ratchet was heard.

But that was all. The brig did not move. The chance was lost. The tide was
already beginning to ebb, and it was evident that even with the help of the wind
and the sea, this small crew could not free the ship.

1. Verne has twenty-five miles here, but the straight line distance from Aotea to Auckland is eighty
miles. (130 kilometres) Verne does use a more accurate distance in later chapters. The longitude he

gives is also off by about 3° 30’, so I've adjusted it — DAS




Chapter VI
Where Cannibalism Is Discussed, Theoretically

T HE FIRST MEANS OF SALVATION ATTEMPTED BY JOHN MANGLES HAD FAILED. IT WAS
necessary to resort to the second without delay. It was obvious that the
Macquarie could not be raised, and no less obvious that the only action to be taken
was to abandon the ship. Waiting on board for unknown relief would have been
recklessness madness. The Macquarie would be torn to pieces before the
providential arrival of a ship at the scene of the grounding. The next storm, or even
a strong surf raised by offshore winds, would roll her on the sands, break her, and
scatter and disperse the debris. John wanted to be on land before this inevitable
destruction.

He therefore proposed to build a raft large enough to carry the passengers, and
a sufficient quantity of supplies, to the New Zealand shore.

No one argued with his decision. The
work was begun, and they had made good
progress when darkness forced them to stop
work.

About eight o’clock in the evening, after
supper, while Lady Helena and Mary Grant
rested in their berths in the deckhouse,
Paganel and his friends were discussing
grave matters as they paced the deck of the
ship. Robert did not want to leave them.
This brave child listened attentively, ready
to render any service, ready to devote
himself to any perilous enterprise.

Paganel asked John Mangles if the raft
could follow the coast to Auckland, instead
of landing its passengers ashore. John
replied that such a voyage was impossible
with such an unwieldy vessel.

“And what we can not attempt on a raft,” The work was begun

said Paganel, “could it have been done with the brig’s dinghy?”
“Yes, eventually,” said John Mangles. “But we’d have to sail by day and anchor
by night.”



“So, those wretches who have abandoned us...”

“Oh, them,” said John Mangles. “They were drunk, and in the darkness I fear
that they have paid with their lives for their cowardly abandonment.”

“Too bad for them,” said Paganel, “and too bad for us, for the boat would have
been very useful.”

“What do you want, Paganel?” said Glenarvan. “The raft will take us to the
shore.”

“That is precisely what I would have liked to avoid,” said the geographer.

“What! A journey of ninety miles at the most after what we have done in the
Pampas, and across Australia. Can it frighten men who have been through such
hardships?”

“My friends,” said Paganel, “I do not question your courage, or the valour of our
companions. Ninety miles would be nothing in any other country but New Zealand.
You will not suspect me of pusillanimity. I was the first to to encourage you to cross
America, and Australia. But here, I repeat, anything is better than venturing into
this treacherous country.”

“Anything is better than exposing yourself to certain death on a stranded ship,”
said John Mangles.

“What do we have to fear so much in New Zealand?” asked Glenarvan.

“The Maori,” said Paganel.

“The Maori!” said Glenarvan. “Can we not avoid them, following the coast?
Moreover, an attack of a few miserable beings can not worry ten Europeans well
armed and determined to defend themselves.”

“They are not miserable,” said Paganel, shaking his head. “The Maori are
terrible tribes who fight against English rule — against their invaders — who often
defeat them, and who always eat them!”

“Cannibals!” cried Robert. “Cannibals!” Then they heard him murmuring “My
sister! Lady Helena!”

“Do not be afraid, my child,” said Glenarvan, to reassure the boy. “Our friend
Paganel exaggerates!”

“I'm not exaggerating anything!” said Paganel. “Robert has shown that he is a
man, and I treat him as a man, by not hiding the truth. New Zealanders are the
most cruel, if not the most greedy, of cannibals. They devour everything that comes
their way. For them, war is a hunt for that tasty game called man, and it must be
admitted that it is a more logical reason to make war. Europeans kill their enemies
and bury them. The savages kill their enemies and eat them, and, as my compatriot



Toussenel said so well ‘It is not so evil to roast an enemy when he is dead, as to kill
him when he does not want to die.”

“Paganel,” said the Major, “there is much to discuss, but this is not the time.
Whether it is logical or not to be eaten, we do not want to be eaten. But how has
Christianity not yet destroyed these anthropophagous habits?”

“Do you believe, then, that all New
Zealanders are Christians?” said Paganel. “It
is only a small minority, and the
missionaries are still and too often victims
of these brutes. Last year, Reverend
Walkner was martyred with horrible
cruelty.: The Maori hanged him. Their wives
snatched out his eyes. They drank his blood;
they ate his brains. And this murder took
place in 1865, in Opotiki, a few leagues from
Auckland, right under the eyes of the
English authorities. My friends, it takes
centuries to change the nature of a race of
men. What the Maori have been, they will be
for a long time yet. Their whole history is
made of blood. How many crews have they
slaughtered and devoured, from the sailors
of Tasman to the sailors of the Hawes? And
it is not the white man’s flesh that has
whetted their appetites. Long before the arrival of the Europeans, the Maori
satisfied their appetites at the cost of murder. Many travellers who have lived
among them have attended cannibal feasts where the guests were driven by the
desire to eat a delicacy, like the flesh of a woman or a child!”

“Bah!” said the Major. “Aren’t these accounts just traveller’s tales? We like to
come back from dangerous countries telling of narrow escapes from the stomachs
of cannibals!”

“I'm not exaggerating,” said Paganel. “Very reliable witnesses have spoken: the
missionaries Kendall, and Marsden; Captains Dillon, D’Urville, Laplace, and
others. And I believe their stories; I must believe it. Maori are cruel by nature. On
the deaths of their leaders, they immolate human victims. They claim that these
sacrifices appease the anger of the deceased, who could strike the living, and at the

The martyrdom of Reverend Walkner



same time offer him servants for the next life! But as they eat these posthumous
servants, after having massacred them, one is justified in believing that the
stomach motivates them more than superstition.”

“However,” said John Mangles. “I imagine that superstition plays a role in the
scenes of cannibalism. Therefore, as religion changes, manners will change too.”

“John, my good friend,” said Paganel. “You raise the significant question of the
origin of anthropophagy. Is it religion, or is it hunger that has driven men to
devour each other? This is just idle speculation, right now. Why does cannibalism
exist? The question is not yet resolved, but it exists. This is an important fact,
about which we have only too much reason to be concerned.”

Paganel was correct. Anthropophagy has been chronic in New Zealand, as in
Fiji and the Torres Strait. Superstition obviously influences these odious customs,
but there are cannibals because there are times when game is rare and hunger is
great. The savages began by eating human flesh to satisfy the requirements of a
rarely satiated appetite. Then, the priests regulated and sanctified these monstrous
habits. The meal became a ceremony. That is all.

In the eyes of Maori, nothing is more natural than eating each other.
Missionaries often asked them about cannibalism. They asked them why they
devoured their brothers. To which the chiefs replied that fish eat fish, that dogs eat
men, that men eat dogs, and that dogs eat each other. In their very theogony,
legend relates that a god ate another god. With such precedents, how can one resist
the pleasure of eating one’s neighbour?

Moreover, the Maori claim that by devouring a dead enemy one consumes their
spirit. Thus one inherits the other’s soul, their strength, their worth, which are
particularly enclosed in the brain. This accounts for the brain being a choice dish,
reserved for the most honoured guest.

However, Paganel argued — not without reason — that sensuality, especially
hunger, excited the zealots to anthropophagy, and not only the savages of Oceania,
but the savages of Europe.

“Yes,” he added, “Cannibalism has long reigned among the ancestors of the
most civilized peoples, and do not take this personally, especially among the
Scots.”

“Really?” asked MacNabbs.

“Yes, Major,” said Paganel. “When you read some passages by Saint Jerome on
the Attacotti of Scotland, you will see what to think of your ancestors! And without
going back to pre-historical time, during the reign of Elizabeth, at the very time



when Shakespeare was dreaming of his Shylock, was not the Scottish bandit
Sawney Bean executed for the crime of cannibalism? And what was his reason for
eating human flesh? Religion? No. Hunger.”

“Hunger?” asked John Mangles.

“Hunger,” replied Paganel, “but above all, the necessity for the carnivore to
renew its flesh and blood by the nitrogen contained in animal flesh. The lungs are
satisfied with a provision of tuberous and starchy plants. But if you want to be
strong and active you must absorb those malleable foods that repair the muscles.
As long as the Maori are not members of the society of the legumists, they will eat
meat and, for meat, human flesh.”

“Why not the meat of animals?” asked Glenarvan.

“Because they have no animals,” said Paganel, “and you must know it, not to
excuse, but to explain their habits of cannibalism. Quadrupeds, even birds, are rare
in this inhospitable country. So the Maori have always fed on human flesh. There
are even ‘seasons to eat men,” as in civilized countries, seasons for hunting. Then
there are the great battues, that is, the great wars, and entire tribes are served on
the table of the victors.”

“Thus,” says Glenarvan, “according to you, Paganel, cannibalism will not
disappear until the day when sheep, oxen, and pigs swarm in the meadows of New
Zealand.”

“Of course, my dear Lord, and it will take years for the Maori to get rid of their
preference for Maori flesh, for the sons will long enjoy what their fathers loved.
According to them, this flesh tastes like pork, but with more aroma. As for white
flesh, they are less fond of it, because the whites mix salt with their food, which
gives them a peculiar flavour, little liked by the gourmets.”

“They are discerning!” said the Major. “But whether white or black flesh, do
they eat it raw or cooked?”

“What does it matter to you, Mr. MacNabbs?” asked Robert.

“Now then, my boy,” replied the Major, seriously, “If I ever end up in the teeth
of a cannibal, I prefer to be cooked!”

“Why?”

“To be sure of not being devoured alive

“Good, Major!” said Paganel. “But suppose that they cooked you alive?”

“The fact is,” said the Major, “that I would not give a half crown for the choice.”

“In any case, MacNabbs, and if it is agreeable to you,” said Paganel, “the New
Zealanders only eat flesh when it is cooked or smoked. They are well informed
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people on matters of their cuisine. But, for me, the idea of being eaten is
particularly unpleasant! Finish your existence in the stomach of a savage? Ugh!”

“The conclusion of all this,” said John Mangles, “is that we must not fall into
their hands. Let’s also hope that one day Christianity will have abolished these
monstrous customs.”

“Yes, we must hope so,” said Paganel. “But, believe me, a savage who has tasted
human flesh will hardly give it up. Judge for yourself by these two stories.”

“Let’s hear the stories, Paganel,” said Glenarvan.

“The first is reported in the chronicles of the Jesuit society in Brazil. A
Portuguese missionary once met a very sick Brazilian woman. She had only a few
days to live. The Jesuit taught her the truths of Christianity, which the dying
woman accepted without discussion. Then, after the food of the soul, he thought to
give her the food of the body, and offered his penitent some European delicacies.
‘Alas!” answered the old woman, ‘My stomach can not support any kind of food.
There is only one thing I would like to taste; but, unfortunately, no one here could
procure it for me.” — ‘What is it?’ asked the Jesuit. — ‘Ah! My son! It’s the hand of a
little boy! It seems to me that I could nibble on the little bones with pleasure!”

“Ah, but is it good?” asked Robert.

“My second story will answer you, my boy,” said Paganel. “One day, a
missionary reproached a cannibal for this horrible custom, contrary to the divine
laws against eating human flesh. ‘And besides, it must taste awful!” he added. —
‘Ah, Father!” replied the savage, casting a covetous glance at the missionary, ‘Say
that God forbids it, but do not say it’s awful! If only you would try it!"”

1. Reverend Carl Sylvius Vélkner was captured by the Maori, and executed as an English spy (which he
arguably was) — DAS



https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Carl_Sylvius_V%C3%B6lkner

Chapter VII
Where They Land in the Country They Should Have Avoided

T HE FACTS REPORTED BY PAGANEL WERE INDISPUTABLE. THE CRUELTY OF THE MAORI
could not be doubted, so there was danger in landing there. But had the
danger been a hundred times greater, it was necessary to face it. John Mangles felt
that they should leave the ship destined for imminent destruction without delay.
There could be no hesitation between the two dangers, the one certain, the other
only probable.

It could not reasonably be expected that they would be rescued by a ship. The
Macquarie was not on the shipping lanes used to land in New Zealand. They go to
Auckland in the north, or New Plymouth in the south, but the stranding had taken
place precisely between these two points, on the deserted part of the shores of Te
Ika-a-Maui. It was a bad coast, dangerous, badly haunted. Ships have no other
problem than to avoid it, and, if the wind carries them here, to leave again as
quickly as possible.

“When will we leave?” asked Glenarvan.

“Tomorrow morning at ten o’clock,” said John Mangles. “The tide will be rising,
and it will carry us to the shore.”

The next day, February 5!, at eight o’clock, the construction of the raft was
completed. John had given all his care to the construction of it. The raft built from
the the remains of the foremast which had been used to place the anchors was not
large enough to carry all the passengers and provisions. They needed a sturdy,
steerable vehicle, capable of navigating over nine miles of sea. The main mast alone
could provide the materials needed for its construction.

Wilson and Mulrady set to work. The rigging deadeyes were cut away, and the
main mast was felled, chopped down with an axe at its base. It fell over the
starboard railing, which shattered under its impact. The Macquarie was then
stripped like a hulk.

The lower yards, with the yards from the topsails and topgallants were sawn
and split to make up the main frame of the raft. They were combined with the
pieces of the foremast, and all these spars were firmly bound together. John was
careful to fill in gaps between the spars with half a dozen empty barrels, to float the
raft higher in the water.

On this strong foundation, Wilson laid a latticework floor made of grating. Any



waves that broke over the raft would thus drain away, and the passengers could
keep dry. Moreover, water barrels, solidly joined, formed a kind of circular bulwark
which protected the deck against large waves.

That morning, John, seeing the favourable wind, placed the small topgallant’s
yard as a mast in the centre of the raft. It was held by stays and equipped with a
makeshift sail. A large oar with a wide blade, attached at the rear, made it possible
to steer the rig, if the wind gave it sufficient speed.

Such a raft, under the best conditions, could resist the force of the waves. But
could it be steered, or brought to the coast at all, if the wind turned? That was the
question. They began the loading at nine o’clock.

First they stowed sufficient provisions to last as far as Auckland, so it wouldn’t
be necessary to rely on the productions of this ungrateful land.

Olbinett’s remaining stores, purchased for the crossing of the Macquarie,
provided a few preserved meats, but little remained of them. They had to rely on
the provisions from the brig: mediocre quality sea biscuits, and two barrels of
salted fish. The steward was ashamed of it.

These provisions were enclosed in hermetically sealed cases, impervious and
impenetrable to sea water, then lowered to the raft and lashed to the foot of the
makeshift mast. The weapons and ammunition were put in a safe and dry place.
Fortunately, the travellers were well armed with rifles and revolvers.

The small anchor was also loaded in case they were unable to reach the shore
on the first tide, and they had to anchor offshore.

At ten o’clock the tide began to make itself felt. The breeze was blowing weakly
from the northwest. A slight swell rippled the surface of the sea.

“Are we ready?” asked John Mangles.

“Everything is ready, Captain,” answered Wilson.

“All aboard!” John shouted.

Lady Helena and Mary Grant descended a coarse rope ladder, and settled at the
foot of the mast on the crates of provisions, their companions near them. Wilson
took the helm. John placed himself on the sail tackle, and Mulrady cut the mooring
that held the raft to the side of the brig.

The sail was deployed, and the raft began to move toward the shore under the
double action of the tide and the wind.

The coast was nine miles away, a mediocre distance that a boat with good oars
could cover in three hours. But with the raft, it would take longer. If the wind held,
they might reach the land in a single tide. But if the breeze calmed, the ebb tide



would prevail, and it would be necessary to anchor to wait for the next tide. That
was John Mangles’ chief concern, and it filled him with apprehension.

Still, he hoped to succeed. The wind freshened. The tidal flow having
commenced at ten o’clock, they must reach the shore by three o’clock, or they
would have to anchor to avoid being carried out to sea on the ebb.

The beginning of the crossing went well. Little by little, the black heads of the
reefs and the yellow carpets of the sandbanks disappeared under the rising tide
and the waves. Great attention and skill were necessary to avoid these submerged
shoals, and to direct a rig that was slow to respond to its rudder.

At noon they were still five miles from the coast. A clear sky allowed them to
distinguish the main landmarks. In the northeast stood a mountain over three
thousand feet high. It stood out on the horizon in a strange way, and its silhouette
mimicked the grimacing profile of a monkey’s head, facing the sky. It was Mount
Pirongia, precisely located on the 38! parallel, according to their map.

At half-past twelve Paganel pointed out that all the rocks had disappeared
under the rising tide.

“Except one,” said Lady Helena.

“Where, Madame?” asked Paganel.

“There.” Lady Helena pointed to a black dot a mile ahead.

“Indeed,” said Paganel. “Let’s mark its position, we don’t want to strike it, after
it is submerged.”

“It is precisely in line with the northern ridge of the mountain,” said John
Mangles. “Wilson, make sure to give it a wide birth.”

“Yes, Captain,” said the sailor, leaning his full weight on the steering oar at the
stern.

In half an hour they had gained half a mile. But, strangely enough, the black
spot was still showing above the waves.

John was watching it attentively. He borrowed Paganel’s telescope to see it
better.

“It is not a reef,” he said, after a moment’s examination. “It’'s something
floating. It goes up and down with the swell.”

“Is it a piece of Macquarie’s masts?” asked Lady Helena.

“No,” said Glenarvan. “No debris could have drifted so far from the ship.”

“Wait!” exclaimed John Mangles, “I recognize it. It’s the boat!”

“The brig’s dinghy?” asked Glenarvan.

“Yes, My Lord. The brig’s dinghy, capsized!”



“Those poor men!” exclaimed Lady Helena. “They perished!”

“Yes, Madame,” said John Mangles. “They must have perished, for in the midst
of these breakers, on a stormy sea, on that black night, they were running to
certain death.”

“May Heaven have pity on them!” murmured Mary Grant.

For a few moments the passengers remained silent. They looked at the frail
boat they were approaching. It had evidently capsized four miles from the shore,
and of those who had gone in her, no doubt no one had escaped.

“But this boat may be useful,” said Glenarvan.

“Indeed,” said John Mangles. “Steer for it, Wilson.”

The raft changed direction, but the breeze fell gradually, and the boat was not
reached before two o’clock.

Mulrady, placed at the front, fended off
the impact, and the capsized dinghy was
brought alongside.

“Empty?” asked John Mangles.

“Yes, Captain,” said the sailor. “The boat
is empty, and its seams have been opened. It
won’t be any use to us.”

“No use at all?” asked MacNabbs.

“None,” said John Mangles. “It’s only
good to burn.”

“I regret it,” said Paganel. “For that
dinghy could have taken us to Auckland.”

“We must resign ourselves, Mr.
Paganel,” said John Mangles. “Moreover, on
a rough sea, I still prefer our raft to that
fragile boat. It took only a small blow to tear

it to pieces! So, My Lord, we have nothing &=
left to do here.” he capsized dinghy was brought alongside

“When youre ready, John,” said
Glenarvan.

“On the way, Wilson,” said the young captain. “Straight for the coast.”

The tide continued to rise for about an hour. They crossed a distance of two
more miles. But the breeze fell almost entirely and tended to swing around away
from the shore. The raft remained motionless. Soon it began to drift toward the



open sea under the pressure of the ebb. John could not hesitate for a moment.

“Drop the anchor!” he ordered.

Mulrady had been expecting the order, and was ready. He dropped the anchor
in five fathoms of water. The raft retreated two fathoms before the hawser pulled
taut. They furled their makeshift sail, and settled down for a long wait.

Indeed, the tide was not to turn again before nine o’clock in the evening, and
since John Mangles did not care to sail during the night, he planned to stay
anchored there until five o’clock the next morning. The land was in sight just three
miles off.

The waves, raised by a strong swell, seemed to be moving constantly toward the
shore. Glenarvan, when he learned that the whole night would be spent on board
the raft, asked John why he was not taking advantage of the waves to carry them
closer to land.

“Your Honour is deceived by an optical illusion,” said the young captain.
“Although the swell seems to carry the water landward, the water doesn’t move at
all. It’s a balancing of liquid molecules, nothing more. Throw a piece of wood in the
middle of these waves, and you will see that it will remain stationary, except for the
motion from the ebb tide. We must remain patient.”

“And dinner?” asked the Major.

Olbinett drew a few pieces of dry meat and a dozen biscuits from a box of
provisions. The steward blushed to offer his masters such a small menu, but it was
accepted with a good grace, even by the ladies, who had not much appetite, owing
to the violent motions of the raft.

This motion, produced by the jerking of the raft on its cable in the swells, was
very tiring for all. The raft was incessantly tossed on the small and capricious
waves as violently as if it was striking an underwater rock. It was sometimes hard
to believe that they weren’t aground. The hawser was stretched taut, and every half
an hour John pulled in a fathom to refresh it. Without this precaution, it would
inevitably have broken, and the raft, cast adrift, would have been lost.

John’s apprehensions was easily understood. His cable could break, or his
anchor slip, and in either case, they would be in trouble.

The night was approaching. Already, the disc of the sun, blood red, and
flattened by refraction, was disappearing behind the horizon. The last lines of
water shone in the west and glittered like sheets of silver. To that side, everything
was sky and water, except for one clearly marked point: the hulk of the Macquarie
motionless on its shoal.



The short twilight delayed the onset of
darkness by a few minutes, and soon the
shore, which bounded the horizons of the
east and the north, melted into the night.

The shipwrecked party were left in an
anxious situation on this narrow raft, lost in
the shadows of night. Some fell into
disturbed slumber and bad dreams; the
others could not find an hour of sleep. At
daybreak, everyone was drained by the
fatigues of the night.

With the rising tide, the wind resumed
from the open sea. It was six o’clock in the
morning. Time was pressing. John had
arranged everything to get a quick start. He
ordered that the anchor be weighed. But the
anchor flukes, under the shaking of the
cable, had deeply embedded in the sand. = =
Without a windlass, and even with the tackle The night was approaching
Wilson rigged, it was impossible to pull it
off.

Half an hour passed in futile attempts. John, impatient to sail, had the line cut,
abandoning his anchor and taking away any opportunity to moor in an emergency,
or if this tide was not enough to reach the coast. But he did not want to wait any
longer, and an axe delivered the raft to the breeze, helped by a current of two
knots.

The sail was spread. They drifted slowly toward the shore, which was fading
into greyish masses against a background of sky illuminated by the rising sun. The
reefs were deftly avoided and doubled. But, under the uncertain breeze from the
open sea, the raft did not seem to approach the shore. How difficult was it to land
on this dangerous shore?

At nine o’clock, the coast was less than a mile away. The breakers bristled on a
steep shore. It was necessary to discover a practicable landing there. The wind
gradually weakened and fell completely. The sail flapped uselessly against the
mast. John had it furled. The tide alone carried the raft to the land, but they could
no longer steer it, and enormous bands of seaweed slowed their progress.




At ten o’clock the raft was almost stationary, three cables from the shore. With
no anchor, were they going to be pushed back by the ebb? John, his hands
clenched, his heart devoured with anxiety, cast a fierce glance at this

unapproachable land.

Fortunately — fortunately this time —
they felt a shock. The raft stopped. It had
run aground on a sandy bottom, twenty-five
fathoms from the coast.

Glenarvan, Robert, Wilson, and Mulrady
threw themselves into the water. The raft
was moored to some neighbouring rocks.
The ladies, carried from arm to arm,
reached the shore without having wetted a
fold of their dresses, and soon all, with arms
and provisions, had at last set foot on these
formidable shores of New Zealand.

The ladies, carried from arm to arm



Chapter VIII
The Present of the Country They Were In

G LENARVAN WOULD HAVE LIKED TO BEGIN FOLLOWING THE COAST TO AUCKLAND, WITHOUT
losing an hour. But the sky had filled with heavy clouds as the morning
advanced, and at eleven o’clock, after they had unloaded the raft, the clouds burst
in violent rain. Instead of setting off, they had to seek shelter.

Luckily, Wilson discovered a sea cave in the basaltic rocks of the shore. The
travellers took refuge there, with their arms and provisions. There was a whole
crop of dried kelp that had been washed up by the waves. It made a natural
bedding. A few pieces of wood were piled up at the entrance of the cave, then lit,
and everyone dried themselves as well as possible.

John hoped that the duration of this torrential rain would be in inverse
proportion to its violence. This was not to be. The hours passed without bringing a
change in the state of the sky. The wind freshened toward noon and increased to a
squall. This contretemps would have tried the most patient of men, but what could
they do? It would have been folly to brave such a storm without any vehicle.
Besides, it should only take a few days to reach Auckland, and a delay of twelve
hours would not be detrimental to the expedition, if they didn’t encounter any
natives.

During this forced stop, the conversation turned to the history of the war to
which New Zealand was now the theatre. To understand and appreciate the gravity
of the circumstances in which the castaways of the Macquarie were thrown, it was
necessary to know the history of this struggle, which then roiled the island of Te
Ika-a-Maui.

Since the arrival of Abel Tasman in Cook Strait on December 16, 1642, the
Maori, often visited by European ships, had remained free in their independent
islands. No European power thought of seizing this archipelago which commands
the seas of the Pacific. Only the missionaries, established at various points, brought
the benefits of Christian civilization to these new countries. Some of them, and
especially the Anglicans, were preparing the Maori chiefs to bend under the yoke of
England. The latter were skillfully manipulated into signing a letter addressed to
Queen Victoria to demand her protection. But the most clear-sighted foresaw the
foolishness of this step, and one of them, after applying the image of his tattoo on
the letter, uttered these prophetic words: “We have lost our country; henceforth it
is no longer ours. Soon the stranger will come to seize it and we will be his slaves.”



On January 29 1840, the corvette
Herald arrived at the Bay of Islands, in the
north of Te Ika-a-Maui. Captain Hobson
landed at the village of Kororareka. The
inhabitants were invited to meet in a general
assembly in the Protestant church. There
the titles given to Captain Hobson by the
Queen of England were read.

On the 5% of February,! the principal

Maori chiefs were summoned to an English
residence at the village of Paihia. Captain
Hobson sought their submission, saying
that the Queen had sent troops and ships to
protect them, that their rights were
guaranteed, that their freedom remained
intact. They kept ownership of their land,
but henceforth they would only be allowed
to sell it to the British Government.2

Conversation in the grotto

The majority of the chiefs, finding the
protection too expensive, refused to acquiesce. But the promises and the presents
had more power over their wild natures than the great words of Captain Hobson,
and many of them did sign the treaty. From this year, 1840, until the day the
Duncan left the Firth of Clyde, what happened? Nothing was unknown to Jacques
Paganel, and he was ready to instruct his companions about all of it.

“Madame,” he answered Lady Helena’s questions, “I will repeat what I have
already said, that the New Zealanders are a brave people who, having yielded for a
moment, resist surrendering every additional foot to the English invaders. The
Maori tribes are organized like the ancient clans of Scotland. There are many great
families under one chief, who is very jealous of his prerogatives. The men of this
race are proud and brave, some tall, with smooth hair, similar to the Maltese, or
Jews of Baghdad, others smaller, stocky, like mulattoes, but all are robust, haughty
and warlike. They had a famous chef named Hihi, a veritable Vercingetorix.3 So
you will not be surprised if the war with the English is chronic in the territory of Te
Ika-a-Maui, where William Thompson4 leads the famous tribes of Waikato in
defence of their lands.”

“But aren’t the English masters of the principal ports of New Zealand?” asked



John Mangles.

“No doubt, my dear John,” replied Paganel. “From 1840 to 1862, after Captain
Hobson — who later became Governor of the island — took possession, nine
colonies were founded in the most advantageous positions. From there, nine
provinces were established, four in the North Island: Auckland, Taranaki,
Wellington, and Hawke’s Bay; five in the South Island: Nelson, Marlborough,
Canterbury, Otago, and Southland, with a general population of 180,346, as of
June 30, 1864. Important cities and commercial enterprises have risen all over.
When we arrive at Auckland, you will admire without reservation the state of
affairs in this southern Corinth, dominating its narrow isthmus, cast as a bridge to
the Pacific Ocean, and which already has twelve thousand inhabitants. To the west,
New Plymouth; to the east, Ahuriri; to the south, Wellington; are already
flourishing and busy cities. On the island of Te Waipounamu, you would be spoiled
for choice between Nelson, this Montpellier of the Antipodes, the garden of New
Zealand; Picton, on the Cook Strait; Christchurch; Invercargill; and Dunedin, in
the opulent province of Otago, where gold-diggers come from all over the world.
And note that these are not assemblages of a few huts, an agglomeration of a few
wild families, but real cities, with ports, cathedrals, banks, docks, botanical
gardens, museums of natural history, acclimatization societies, newspapers,
hospitals, charitable institutions, philosophical institutes, Freemasons’ lodges,
clubs, choral societies, theatres and palaces of universal exposition, neither more
nor less than in London or Paris! And if my memory is faithful, this past year, and
perhaps still, at the moment when I speak to you, the industrial products of the
whole globe are being exhibited in a country of cannibals!”

“What! Despite the war with the natives?” asked Lady Helena.

“The English, Madame, are little concerned about the war!” said Paganel. “They
fight and they exhibit at the same time. It does not disturb them. They even build
railways under the rifles of Maori. In the province of Auckland, the Drury Railway
and the Mere Mere Railway cut through lands occupied by the rebels. I would
wager that the workers are shooting from the tops of the locomotives.”

“But where is this endless war?” asked John Mangles.

“Six months have passed since we left Europe,” said Paganel, “I can not know
what has happened since our departure, except for a few facts which I have read in
the papers of Maryborough and Seymour, during our crossing of Australia. But at
that time there was still a lot of fighting on the island of Te Ika-a-Maui.”

“When did this war commence?” asked Mary Grant.



“You mean ‘recommence,” my dear Miss,” said Paganel. “The first insurrection
took place in 1845. The current war began toward the end of 1863, but long before,
the Maori were preparing to shake off the yoke of English rule. The Maori King
Movement had an active campaign to elect a Maori leader. They wanted to make
old Potatau their king, and his village between the rivers Waikato and Waipa the
capital of their new kingdom. Potatau was an old man, more astute than bold, but
he had an energetic and intelligent Prime Minister, a descendant of the tribe of
those Ngatihahuas who lived in the Auckland isthmus before the foreign
occupation. This minister, William Thompson, became the soul of the War of
Independence. He skilfully organized Maori troops. Under his inspiration, a
Taranaki chief united the scattered tribes in common cause; another Waikato chief
formed the Land League Association, a real league for the public good, designed to
prevent the natives from selling their land to the English Government. Rallies took
place, as in the civilized countries, which are preludes to revolution. British
newspapers began to pick up these alarming symptoms, and the Government was
gravely concerned about the Land League’s actions. In short, spirits were high, the
dam ready to burst. All that was missing was the spark, or rather the collision of
two interests to produce it.”

“And this spark?” asked Glenarvan.

“It took place in 1860,” said Paganel, “in the province of Taranaki, on the south-
west coast of Te Tka-a-Maui. A native owned six hundred acres of land in the
vicinity of New Plymouth. He sold them to the English Government. But when
surveyors came to measure the purchased land, Chief Kingi protested, and in the
month of March he erected a pa defended by high palisades on the disputed land. A
few days later, Colonel Gold removed this camp at the head of his troops, and those
were the opening shots of the national war.”

“Are the Maori numerous?” asked John Mangles.

“The Maori population has been greatly reduced in this past century,” said the
geographer. “In 1769, Cook estimated it at 400,000. In 1845, the census of the
native protectorate lowered it to 109,000. The civilizing massacres, diseases, and
fire water have further decimated it, but there are still 90,000 natives in the two
islands, 30,000 of whom are warriors who will keep the European troops in check
for a long time.”

“Has the revolt succeeded so far?” asked Lady Helena.

“Yes, Madame, and the English themselves have often admired the courage of
the New Zealanders. They engage in partisan warfare, fielding skirmishing parties,



attack small detachments, and plunder the fields of the colonists. This was not the
sort of campaign, beating the bush for small bands of Maori, that General Cameron
wanted to wage. In 1863, after a long and deadly struggle, the Maori occupied a
large fortified position on the upper Waikato, at the end of a chain of steep hills,
and protected by three lines of defence. Prophets called for the entire Maori
population to come to the defence of their land and promised the extermination of
Pakeha, that is white people. Three thousand men were assembled for the fight
under the command of General Cameron, who no longer gave any quarter to the
Maori, since the barbarous murder of Captain Sprent. Bloody battles took place.
Some lasted twelve hours, without the Maori yielding to the European canons. It
was the fierce tribe of Waikatos, under the command of William Thompson, who
formed the nucleus of the independent army. This native general at first
commanded 2,500 warriors, and his forces grew to 8,000 when subjects of Shongi
and Heki, two formidable leaders, came to his aid. Even the women, in this holy
war, took part in the cruelest hardships.

“But the right person does not always have the right weapons. After deadly
fighting, General Cameron managed to subdue the Waikato region, but it was an
empty and depopulated district, because the Maori escaped him on all sides. There
were admirable exploits of war. Four hundred Maori, besieged in the Orakan
fortress without food or water by a thousand English troops under the command of
Brigadier General Carey, refused to surrender. Then one day, at noon, they made
their escape through the decimated 40t regiment, and fled into the marshes.”

“But has this bloody war been ended by the submission of the Waikato
district?” asked John Mangles.

“No, my friend,” said Paganel. “The English have resolved to march on the
province of Taranaki and to besiege Mataitawa, the fortress of William Thompson.
But they will not seize it without considerable losses. At the moment of leaving
Paris, I had learned that the Governor and the General had just accepted the
submission of the Taranga tribes, and that they left them three quarters of their
lands. It was also said that the chief leader of the rebellion, William Thompson,
was thinking of surrender; but the Australian newspapers have not confirmed this;
on the contrary. It is therefore probable that at this very moment the resistance is
being organized with new vigour.”

“And according to your opinion, Paganel,” said Glenarvan, “this struggle would
be in the provinces of Taranaki and Auckland?”

“I think so.”



“That very province where the shipwreck of Macquarie has taken place?”

“Precisely. We landed a few miles above Kawhia Harbour, where the Maori
National Flag must still fly.”

“Then we’d be wise to go north,” said Glenarvan.

“Very wise, indeed,” said Paganel. “New Zealanders are enraged against
Europeans, especially against the English. So, let’s avoid falling into their hands.”

“Perhaps we will meet some detachment of European troops, if we’re lucky?”
said Lady Helena.

“Perhaps, Madame,” said the geographer, “but I do not expect to. Isolated
detachments do not readily beat the country, where the slightest bush, the frailest
shrub might hide a skilful skirmisher. I do not count on us receiving an escort of
soldiers from the 40t regiment. But there are some missions established on the
west coast that we will follow, and we can move in stages from one to another until
we reach Auckland. We might also try following the route which Dr. von
Hochstetter followed while tracing the course of the Waikato.”

“Was he an explorer, Monsieur Paganel?” asked Robert Grant.

“Yes, my boy, a member of the scientific commission aboard the Austrian
frigate La Novara during her circumnavigation voyage in 1858.”

“Monsieur Paganel,” continued Robert, whose eyes glittered at the thought of
great geographical expeditions. “Does New Zealand have famous explorers like
Burke and Stuart in Australia?”

“Some, my child, such as Dr. Hooker, Professor Brizard, naturalists
Dieffenbach and Julius Haast; but, though many of them have paid for their
adventurous passion, they are less famous than Australian or African travellers.”

“And you know their stories?” asked the young Grant.

“Parbleu, my boy! I see you want to know as much as I do, so I'll tell you.”

“Thank you, Monsieur Paganel, I am listening to you.”

“And we, too, are listening to you,” said Lady Helena. “This is not the first time
that bad weather has forced us to learn. Tell us all, Monsieur Paganel.”

“As you wish, Madame,” replied the geographer, “but my story will not be long.
It is not a matter of those bold explorers who were fighting hand-to-hand with the
Australian Minotaur, here. New Zealand is too small a country to defend itself
against human investigations. So my heroes have not been explorers, strictly
speaking, but simple tourists, victims of the most prosaic accidents.”

“And their names?” asked Mary Grant.

“The surveyor Witcombe, and Charlton Howitt, the same man who found the



remains of Burke,> of that memorable expedition that I told you during our stop on
the banks of the Wimmera. Witcombe and Howitt each commanded two
explorations on the island of Te Waipounamu. Both of them left Christchurch in
the early months of 1863 to discover different passes through the northern
mountains of the province of Canterbury.

“Howitt, crossing the chain on the northern limit of the province, established
his headquarters on Brunner Lake. Witcombe, on the other hand, found a pass in
the Rakaia Valley which led to the east of Mount Tyndall. Witcombe had a
travelling companion, Jacob Louper, who published his tale of travel and disaster
in the Lyttleton Times.

“As far as I remember, on April 2279, 1863 the two explorers were at the foot of
a glacier where the Rakaia River has its source. They climbed to the summit of the
mountain and engaged in a search for a new pass. The next day, Witcombe and
Louper, exhausted with fatigue and cold, camped in heavy snow at four thousand
feet above sea level. For seven days they wandered in the mountains, at the
bottoms of valleys whose sheer walls delivered no way out. Often without fire,
sometimes without food: their sugar changed into syrup, their biscuit reduced to a
damp paste. Their clothes and their blankets dripping with rain; devoured by
insects, they made three miles on good days, and on bad days scarcely gained two
hundred yards. Finally, on the 29™ of April, they found a Maori hut, and a few
handfuls of potatoes in its garden. This was the last meal the two friends shared
together.

“In the evening they reached the shore of the sea near the mouth of Taramakau.
They had to cross to its right bank, in order to go north toward the Gray river. The
Taramakau was deep and wide. Louper, after an hour’s search, found two small
damaged boats, which they repaired as best they could and fixed to each other. The
two explorers embarked toward evening. But in the middle of the current, the
canoes filled with water. Witcombe swam back to the left bank. Jacob Louper, who
could not swim, remained clinging to the boats. This was what saved him, but not
without many hardships. The unfortunate man was pushed toward the breakers. A
first wave plunged him to the bottom of the sea. A second brought him back to the
surface. He was struck against the rocks. The darkest night had come. The rain was
falling in torrents. Louper, his body bloody and swollen with sea water, was
buffeted by the waves for several hours. At length the canoe struck the mainland,
and the castaway, deprived of his senses, was thrown back on the shore.

“The next day, at dawn, he dragged himself to a spring, and discovered that the



current had brought him back to within a
mile of where he had started in his attempt
to cross the river. He got up, followed the
coast, and soon found the unfortunate
Witcombe, his body half buried, face down
in the mud. He was dead. With just his
hands Louper dug a pit in the middle of the
sands and buried the body of his
companion. Two days later, he was dying of
hunger, when he was found by some
friendly Maori — there are some — and on
May 40 he reached Charlton Howitt’s camp
at Lake Brunner. Six weeks later, Howitt
was going to perish himself, like the ill-fated
Witcombe.”

“It seems that these catastrophes are tied
together,” said John Mangles. “That a fatal = - &
chain unites the explorers, and that they all Jacob Louper remained clinging to the boat
perish when a centre link breaks.”

“You are right, friend John,” said Paganel, “and I have often made this remark.
By what law of solidarity was Howitt led to succumb in almost the same
circumstances? It can not be said. Charlton Howitt had been hired by Mr. Wyde,
the head of Government, to survey a horse-friendly road from the Hurunui plains
to the mouth of Taramakau. He left on the 15t of January 1863, accompanied by

five men. He carried out his mission with incomparable intelligence, and a road
forty miles long was pierced to an unfordable point of Taramakau. Howitt then
returned to Christchurch and, in spite of the approaching winter, he asked to
continue his work. Mr. Wyde consented. Howitt went back to supply his camp for
the bad season. It was at this time that he met Jacob Louper. On June 27th, Howitt
and two of his men, Robert Little, and Henri Mullis, left the camp. They crossed
Lake Brunner. They have never been seen since. Their swamped canoe was found
stranded on the shore. A search for them went on for nine weeks, but to no avail,
and it is evident that those wretches, who could not swim, drowned in the waters of
the lake.”

“But why shouldn’t they be safe and sound among some Maori tribe?” asked
Lady Helena. “Isn’t there at least some hope that they have lived?”



“Alas! No, Madame,” said Paganel. “A year after the catastrophe, in August of
1864, they had not reappeared.” He went on in a low murmur “And when one has
been missing for a year in New Zealand, one is irrevocably lost!”

1. Verne has the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi take place on January 5m. The interpretation of this
treaty has been, and continues to be, a major bone of contention between the Maori, and the

European settlers of New Zealand, as the treaty was bilingual with copies written in both English and

Maori, and the two versions don’t always say the same thing — DAS
2. Verne has the Maori giving up all their property rights, which wasn’t the case (in either the English or

Maori versions) though the interpretation of the clause on just who the M3aori could sell to would
become a major sticking point later — DAS

3. Vercingetorix was a Gallic king who united the Gauls in a revolt against Roman rule, in the first
century BC — DAS

4. Wiremu Tamihana anglicized as “William Thompson” was more the diplomat and publicist of the
Maori King Movement, than it’s military leader. Throughout the conflict he continued to attempt to
come to a negotiated settlement with the English. The military leader was Rewi Maniapoto — DAS

5. Paganel is mistaken here. Charlton Howitt was the brother of Alfred Howitt, who found the remains
of the Burke and Wills expedition — DAS



https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Treaty_of_Waitangi
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Vercingetorix
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wiremu_Tamihana
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Rewi_Maniapoto

Chapter IX
Thirty Miles to the North

O N THE 7™ OF FEBRUARY, AT SIX O'CLOCK IN THE MORNING, GLENARVAN GAVE THE

signal to depart. The rain had stopped during the night. The sky, overcast
with thin greyish clouds, stopped the rays of the sun three miles above the ground.
The moderate temperature made it possible to face the trials of a journey by day.

Paganel had measured the distance between Kawhia Point and Auckland on the
map as eighty miles. It would be an eight-day trip, at ten miles a day. But instead of
following the winding shores of the sea, it seemed to him a better idea to head for
the village of Ngaruawahia, at the confluence of the Waikato and Waipa rivers,
thirty miles away. The Overland Mail Track — more a trail than a road, but
passable to carriages — passed through it on its route from Napier, on Hawke’s
Bay, to Auckland. From there it would be easy to reach Drury and rest in an
excellent hotel that the geologist Dr. von Hochstetter particularly recommended.

The travellers, each carrying a share of their provisions, began to follow the
shore of Aotea Bay. As a precaution, they stayed close together, and they watched
the undulating plains to the east with their loaded rifles at the ready. Paganel, with
his excellent map in hand, took professional pleasure in noting the accuracy of its
every detail.

During part of the day, the little troop walked over sand composed of fragments
of bivalve shells and cuttlebone, mixed with magnetite and hematite iron oxides. A
magnet held close to the ground would instantly be covered with brilliant crystals.

On the shore, caressed by the rising tide, were a few marine animals that made
no effort to flee. The seals, with their rounded heads, broad, curving foreheads, and
expressive eyes, presented a sweet and even affectionate appearance. It was easily
understood why fables romanticized these curious inhabitants of the waves,
making them out to be enchanting sirens, though their true voices were an
inharmonious growl. These animals, numerous on the coasts of New Zealand, are
the object of an active trade. They are caught for their oil and fur.

Between them were three or four, blue-grey elephant seals, twenty-five or thirty
feet long. These huge amphibians, lazily stretched out on thick beds of giant kelp,
raised their flexible trunks and grimly waggled the rough bristles of their long and
twisted moustaches: curly corkscrews like the beard of a dandy. Robert was
amusing himself by contemplating this interesting world, when he exclaimed “Hey!
Those seals are eating pebbles!”



And, indeed, many of these animals were e i oo - — e ey
greedily swallowing the stones from the === =
shore.

“Parbleu! You're right!” said Paganel. “It
can not be denied that these animals graze
the pebbles of the shore.”

“A strange food,” said Robert, “and
difficult to digest!”

“It’s not for food, my boy, but for feeding
itself, that these amphibians are swallowing
stones. It is a way to increase their specific
gravity to easily dive to the bottom of the
sea. Once back on the land, they will
regurgitate these stones without further
ceremony. You will soon see these seals dive
under the waves.”

Soon, indeed, half a dozen seals,
sufficiently weighted, dragged themselves
down the shore and disappeared into the
water. But Glenarvan could not waste precious time waiting for their return to
watch the unloading operation and, to Paganel’s great regret, the interrupted
march was resumed.

At ten o’clock, they stopped for lunch at the foot of large rocks of basalt
arranged like Celtic dolmens on the edge of the sea. An oyster bed provided a large
quantity of these molluscs. These oysters were small and unpleasant tasting, but
following Paganel’s advice, Olbinett cooked them on hot coals, and thus prepared,
they were eaten by the dozens and dozens for the duration of the meal.

After finishing their lunch, they continued to follow the bay shore. On its jagged
rocks, at the tips of the sharp peaks at the tops of its cliffs, a whole world of sea
birds: frigates, boobies, gulls, and large immobile albatrosses had taken refuge. At
four o’clock in the evening, ten miles had been crossed without difficulty or fatigue.
The ladies asked to continue their walk until evening. At this point, in order to
reach the Waipa valley, it was necessary to divert their path away from the sea,
around the foot of some mountains which appeared to the north.

From a distance, the ground looked like an immense meadow that stretched as

P = . 15 =
Pt i ‘-'—““‘ff‘t_;‘__c-r.-f“- = 2

Seals, with their rounded heads

far as the eye could see, and promised an easy walk. But when the travellers arrived



at the edge of these green fields, they were very disillusioned. The pasture gave way
to a thicket of bushes with small white flowers, intertwined with the tall and
innumerable ferns that the lands of New Zealand are particularly fond of. It was
necessary to cut a path through these woody stems, which was hard work.
However, they had passed around the first ridges of the Hakarimata Ranges by
eight o’clock in the evening, and they stopped to camp for the night.

After a trek of fourteen miles, it was permissible to think of rest. Besides, there
was neither a wagon nor a tent, so it was at the foot of the magnificent Norfolk
pines that everyone prepared to sleep. They had plenty of blankets from which to
improvise their beds.

Glenarvan took rigorous precautions for the night. They took turns keeping
watch until daybreak, in well armed pairs. No fire was lit. Such glowing barriers are
useful against wild beasts, but New Zealand has no tigers, lions, or bears, no
ferocious animals of any sort; the New Zealanders, make up for the lack. A fire
would only serve to attract such two-legged jaguars.

The night passed well, except for a few sand fleas, ngamu in the native
language, the sting of which was very disagreeable, and an audacious family of rats
that nibbled on their provision sacks.

The next day, February 8th, Paganel awoke feeling more confident and almost
reconciled with the country. The Maori, whom he particularly feared, had not
appeared, and these ferocious cannibals had not even threatened him in his
dreams. He expressed his satisfaction to Glenarvan.

“I think that this little walk will be completed without difficulty,” he said.
“Tonight we will have reached the confluence of the Waipa and the Waikato, and
from there, meeting the natives is to be little feared on the road to Auckland.”

“How far do we have to go, to reach the confluence?” asked Glenarvan.

“Fifteen miles. About the same as we did yesterday.”

“But we will be very delayed if these endless forests continue to obstruct our
way.”

“On the contrary,” said Paganel. “We will soon reach the Waipa, and there
shouldn’t be any obstacle to us following its banks.”

“Let’s go, then,” said Glenarvan, who saw that everyone was ready to set out.

The forest further delayed their progress during the first hours of the day.
Neither carriage nor horses could have passed where the travellers passed. They
did not regret not having their Australian wagon. Until the day when motorized



roads are built through its forests, it will only be practical for pedestrians to travel
in New Zealand. The ferns, whose species are innumerable, compete with the same
obstinacy as the Maori in defence of their native soil.

The little troop experienced a thousand difficulties in crossing the plains from
which the Hakarimata Ranges arise. But they reached the banks of the Waipa
before noon, and from there had no troubles following the river northward.

It was a charming valley, crossed with many small creeks of fresh, pure water
which ran happily under the shrubs. According to the botanist Hooker, two
thousand new species of plants have been discovered in New Zealand, of which five
hundred were first described by him. The flowers are rare, of subdued colouring,
and annual plants are scarce, but there are plenty of Filicophyta, grasses, and
Apiaceae.

Some tall trees rose here and there out of the undergrowth of dark greenery,
Metrosideros with scarlet flowers, Norfolk pines, Thujas with vertically
compressed twigs, and the rimu, which resembled the sad European cypress trees.
All these trunks were surrounded by many varieties of ferns. Birds fluttered and
chatted between the branches of the tall trees, on the tops of the shrubs: cockatoos;
green kakariki, with a red band under its throat; the taupo, adorned with a fine
pair of black whiskers; and the kaka, a parrot as large as a duck, with bright red
plumage on the undersides of its wings, which naturalists have dubbed the Nestor
meridionalis.

The Major and Robert were able, without leaving the group, to shoot some
snipe and partridge, which were resting under the low forest of the plains. Olbinett,
in order to save time, took care of plucking them while he walked.

Paganel, for his part, was less sensitive to the nutritional qualities of the game.
He would have liked to catch some particular species of bird in New Zealand. The
curiosity of the naturalist overcame the appetite of the traveller. His memory, if it
did not deceive him, reminded him of the strange ways of the tui of the natives,
sometimes called a “mockingbird” for its ceaseless cackling and sometimes “parson
bird” because it has a white collar at the neck of its black cassock-like plumage.

“This bird,” Paganel told the Major, “becomes so fat during the winter that he
becomes ill. He can not fly anymore. Then, he tears his chest with pecks, in order
to get rid of his fat and make himself lighter. Does not this seem strange to you,
MacNabbs?”

“So strange,” said the Major, “that I do not believe a word of it!”

Paganel, to his great regret, could not find a single example of these birds, to



show the incredulous Major the bloody scarifications of their breasts.?

But he was happier with a strange animal, which — under the pursuit of man,
cat, and dog — fled to the uninhabited country and is quickly disappearing from
the fauna of New Zealand. Robert, searching like a ferret, discovered a pair of
wingless and tailless hens in a nest formed of intertwined roots. They had four toes
on their feet, a long woodcock beak and white hairy feathers all over their bodies.
Strange animals, which seemed to mark a transition from oviparous to mammalian
animals.

It was the New Zealand kiwi, Apteryx
australis to naturalists, which feeds
indiscriminately on larvae, insects, worms,
and seeds. This bird is unique to the
country. It has barely been introduced into
the zoos of Europe. Its half-drawn form, its
comic movement, have always attracted the
attention of travellers, and during the great
exploration in Oceania of the Astrolabe and
the Zealous, Dumont D’Urville was mainly
charged by the Academy of Sciences to
bring back a specimen of these singular
birds. But, despite the rewards promised to
the natives, he could not procure a single
living kiwi.

Paganel, happy with such a good fortune,
tied together his two hens and carried them
off bravely with the intention of paying . = """ ZEcaSiccse
homage to the Jardin des Plantes of Paris. The New Zealand kiwi
In his mind’s eye, the confident geographer
already pictured the seductive inscription “Given by M. Jacques Paganel,” on the
most beautiful cage of the establishment!

The little troop descended the course of the Waipa without difficulty. The
country was deserted, there was no trace of natives, no paths indicating the
presence of man in these plains. The waters of the river flowed between high
bushes or glided down gentle slopes. Their eyes wandered over the small
mountains that bordered the valley in the east. With their strange shapes, their
profiles drowned in a deceptive mist, they looked like gigantic animals, worthy of




antediluvian times. They could have been a whole herd of enormous cetaceans,
caught by a sudden petrification. Their tormented masses emanated an essentially
volcanic character. New Zealand is the recent product of a plutonian work. Its
emergence from the waters is constantly ongoing. Some places have risen by a
fathom in the past twenty years. Fire still runs through her bowels, shakes her,
convulses her, and escapes through the mouths of many geysers and the craters of
volcanoes.

At four o’clock in the afternoon, they had happily covered nine miles. According
to Paganel’s map, they were within five miles of the confluence of the Waipa and
the Waikato, where they would meet the road to Auckland. They could camp there
for the night. Two or three days would be enough to cover the remaining fifty miles
which separated them from the capital. If Glenarvan met the postal carriage, which
provides a bi-monthly service between Auckland and Hawke’s Bay, it could be
done in as little as eight hours.

“So,” said Glenarvan, “we will still be forced to camp next night?”

“Yes,” said Paganel, “but for the last time, I hope.”

“Good, because this is very hard for Lady Helena and Mary Grant.”

“And they endure it without complaint,” said John Mangles. “But, if 'm not
mistaken, Mr. Paganel, you mentioned a village at the meeting of the two rivers?”

“Yes,” said the geographer. “Here it is marked on Johnston’s map. It is
Ngaruawahia, about two miles below the confluence.”

“Well, could not we stay there for the night? Lady Helena and Miss Grant would
not hesitate to go two miles more to find a suitable hotel.”

“Hotel?” cried Paganel. “A hotel in a Maori village! You won’t even find an inn
or a cabaret! This village is only a group of native huts, and far from seeking
asylum there, I think we would be well advised to avoid it.”

“Always your fears, Paganel!” said Glenarvan.

“My dear Lord, it is better to distrust than trust the Maori. I do not know their
relationship with the English: if the insurrection is suppressed, or victorious, or if
we will land in the middle of the war. But modesty aside, people of our quality
would be a good catch, and I do not wish to experience the hospitality of the Maori.
So I think it’s wise to avoid the village of Ngaruawahia, to turn away from it, to flee
any meeting with the natives. Once in Drury, it will be different, and there, our
valiant companions can recover at their ease from the trials of the journey.”

The opinion of the geographer prevailed. Lady Helena preferred to spend one
last night in the open air rather than expose her companions to danger. Neither



she, nor Mary Grant asked to stop, and they continued to follow the banks of the
river.

Two hours later, the first shadows of evening began to descend from the
mountains. Before disappearing under the horizon in the west, the sun had darted
some late rays through a sudden gap in the clouds. The distant summits to the east
were reddened by the last fires of the day, like a parting salute to the weary
travellers.

Glenarvan and his people hurried on. They knew the brevity of the twilight in
this already elevated latitude, and how quickly the darkness of night came on. They
wanted to reach the junction of the two rivers before deep darkness. But a thick fog
rose from the ground, and made seeing their way very difficult.

Fortunately, hearing replaced sight, which the darkness had rendered useless.
Soon a more accentuated murmur of the waters indicated the meeting of the two
rivers in the same bed. At eight o’clock, the little troop arrived at the point where
the waters of the Waipa merged into the Waikato, with a roaring turbulence of
waves.

“The Waikato is here,” said Paganel, “and the Auckland road goes up along its
right bank.”

“We will see it tomorrow,” said the Major. “Let’s camp here. It seems to me that
those dark shadows over there are a small thicket of trees which might as well have
been put there expressly to shelter us. Supper and sleep.”

“Supper,” said Paganel. “But biscuits and dry meat, without lighting a fire. We
have arrived here incognito. Let us try to remain so! Fortunately, this fog makes us
invisible.”

They reached the thicket of trees, and everyone conformed to the wishes of the
geographer. They ate their cold supper quietly, and soon a deep sleep fell upon the
travellers, tired by a march of fifteen miles.

1. And if he had, the Major’s scepticism of this story about the tui would have been confirmed.



Chapter X
The National River

T HE NEXT DAY, AT DAWN, A DENSE MIST CREPT HEAVILY ON THE WATERS OF THE RIVER.
Some of the vapour which saturated the air had condensed over the cool water,
and covered the surface with a thick fog. But the rays of the sun soon pierced these
banks of mist, and they melted away under the gaze of the radiant star. The
riversides emerged from the haze, and the course of the Waikato appeared in all its
morning beauty.

A finely elongated tongue of land, bristling with shrubs, came to an end in a
point at the meeting of the two currents. The more chaotic waters of the Waipa
drove a quarter of a mile into the waters of the Waikato before they became
confused; but that river, powerful and calm, soon checked the angry waters, and
dragged them peacefully along its course to the Pacific Ocean.

When the vapours rose, a boat appeared,
going up the current of the Waikato. It was a
canoe, seventy feet long, five broad, three
deep, the front raised like a Venetian
gondola, and it was carved entirely from a
single trunk of a kahikatea fir. A bed of dry
fern covered the bottom. Eight paddlers at
the front made it fly on the surface of the
water, while a man, seated at the stern,
directed it by means of a steering oar.

This man was a tall native, about forty-
five years old, with broad chest, and
muscular arms and legs. His bulging
forehead, furrowed with thick -creases,
violent expression, and sinister
countenance, gave him a formidable
appearance.

He was a high ranking Maori leader.
This could be seen in the thin, tight
tattooing that streaked his body and face. Two black spirals swept out like wings
from his aquiline nose to encircle his yellow eyes, and meet on his forehead, where
they disappeared into his magnificent hair. He had bright teeth, and his chin




disappeared under a pattern of elegant scrolls that continued down to his sturdy
chest.

The tattoo, the moko of the New Zealanders, is a mark of high distinction. Only
a man who has participated valiantly in battle was worthy of these honorary sigils.
Slaves, and people of the lower classes, can not claim them. Famous leaders
identify themselves by the finesse, precision, and nature of their designs, which
often cover their entire bodies with images of animals. Some undergo the very
painful operation of receiving moko up to five times. The more illustrious you are,
the more you are “illustrated” in New Zealand.

Dumont D’Urville gave interesting details of this custom. He pointed out that
the moko was like the coats of arms that some families are so proud of in Europe.
But he noted an important difference between these two signs of distinction. The
coats of arms of Europeans often only attested to the individual merit of the person
who first obtained them, without saying anything about the merit of his children,
while the individual moko of the Maori genuinely testify that the bearer had shown
extraordinary personal courage in order to have the right to wear them.

In addition, the tattooing of the Maori, independent of the consideration which
the bearer enjoys, has an incontestable utility. It toughens the skin, which allows it
to withstand the weather of the seasons, and incessant mosquito bites.

As for the leader who directed this boat, there was no doubt about his
distinction. The sharp albatross bone, which is used by Maori tattooers, had
furrowed his face five times in close and deep lines. His moko was in its fifth
edition, and it showed in his haughty look.

He was wearing a loincloth, still bloody from recent battles, and draped in a
large cloak of Phormium trimmed with dog pelts. Green jade dangled from his
elongated earlobes, and his neck was encompassed with necklaces from which
dangled pounamu, the highly treasured sacred stones of the Maori. At his side lay
an English rifle, and a patiti, a kind of tomahawk, emerald coloured and eighteen
inches long.

Beside him, nine warriors of lesser rank remained perfectly immobile, wrapped
in their Phormium mantles. All were armed, with a fierce bearing, and some still
suffered from recent wounds. Three wild-looking dogs were lying at their feet. The
eight paddlers at the front seemed to be servants or slaves to the leader. They
paddled vigorously. The boat was moving against the slow current of Waikato at a
considerable speed.

In the centre of this long boat, with their feet tied, but their hands free, ten



European prisoners were packed tightly together.

They were Lord Glenarvan and Lady Helena, Mary and Robert Grant, Paganel,
the Major, John Mangles, the steward, and the two sailors.

The evening before, all the little troop — deceived by the thick fog — had gone
to camp in the midst of a numerous party of natives. Toward the middle of the
night, the travellers, caught in their sleep, were taken prisoner and taken aboard
the canoe. They had not been mistreated so far, but they had tried in vain to resist.
Their arms and ammunition were in the hands of the savages, and they would have
been shot with their own guns.

It was not long before they learned, by overhearing some English words used by
the natives, that the latter, driven back by British troops, beaten and decimated,
were returning to the of Upper Waikato district. The Maori chief, after a stubborn
resistance, his main warriors killed by soldiers of the 4274 Regiment, returned to
make a new appeal to the tribes of the river to go to the aid of the indomitable
William Thompson, who was still struggling against the conquerors. This chief was
named Kai-Kumu, a sinister name in the native language, which means “he who
eats the arms of his enemy.” He was brave and daring, but his cruelty equaled his
valour. They could expect no mercy from him. His name was well known to the
English soldiers, and the governor of New Zealand had placed a price on his head.

This terrible blow had struck Lord Glenarvan just as he was about to reach the
desired Auckland Harbour and repatriate to Europe. But by looking at his his cold,
calm face, one could not have guessed the depth of his anxiety. This was because
Glenarvan always rose to meet any challenge that misfortune dealt him. He felt
that he must be strong, to set an example, for his wife and his companions. He, as
the husband and leader was ready to die first for the common salvation if
circumstances should require it. Deeply religious, he never lost his faith in God’s
justice, nor his belief in the sanctity of his undertaking. In the midst of the perils
accumulated on this journey, he did not regret the generous impulse which had
carried him into the country of these savages.

His companions were worthy of him; they shared his noble thoughts, and to see
their tranquil and proud countenances you would not have thought they had been
led into a supreme catastrophe. Besides, by mutual agreement and on the advice of
Glenarvan, they had resolved to affect a superb indifference to the natives. It was
the only way to impress their wild natures. Savages, in general, and particularly the
Maori, have a certain sense of dignity from which they never depart. They respect
coolness and courage. Glenarvan knew that by remaining calm and composed, he



spared himself and his companions from unnecessary mistreatment.

Since leaving the camp, the natives — not very talkative, like all savages — had
scarcely spoken to each other. But from the few words exchanged, Glenarvan
recognized that the English language was familiar to them. He decided to question
the Maori chief as to the fate reserved for them.

He addressed Kai-Kamu calmly, his voice free of fear. “Where are you taking
us, chief?”

Kai-Kimu looked at him coldly without answering him.

“What do you plan to do with us?” continued Glenarvan.

Kai-Kamu'’s eyes flashed briefly, and in a deep voice he replied “To exchange
you, if your people want you; to kill you, if they refuse.”

Glenarvan did not ask for more, but hope returned to his heart. No doubt some
of the Maori leaders had fallen into the hands of the English, and the natives
wanted to try to recover them through a prisoner exchange. There was a chance of
salvation; the situation was not hopeless.

The canoe was moving rapidly up the river. Paganel, whose mercurial nature
easily swung from one extreme to the other, had recovered all his hope. He told
himself that if the Maori saved them the trouble of walking to the English outposts,
that it was so much the better. So, resigned to his fate, he followed the course of the
Waikato across the plains and valleys of the province on his map. Lady Helena and
Mary Grant, hiding their terror, conversed in low voices with Glenarvan, and the
most skilful physiognomist would not have read the anguish of their hearts on their
faces.

The Waikato is the national river of New Zealand. The Maori are proud and
jealous of it, like the Germans of the Rhine, and the Slavs of the Danube. In its two
hundred mile course, it watered the most beautiful regions of the northern island,
from the province of Wellington to the province of Auckland. It gave its name to all
those riverside tribes who, indomitable and untamed, rose en masse against the
invaders.

The waters of this river are still almost untouched by any stranger. They opened
only in front of the bows of the islander canoes. Hardly any audacious tourists had
ventured between these sacred shores. Access to the headwaters of the Waikato
seems to be forbidden to the European laymen.

Paganel knew the veneration of the natives for this great New Zealand artery.
He knew that English and German naturalists had scarcely explored it beyond its
junction with the Waipa. How far would Kai-Kimu’s pleasure take his captives? He



would not have guessed it if the word “Taupo”, frequently repeated between the
chief and his warriors, had not arrested his attention.

He looked at his map and saw that the name of Taupo applied to a lake famous
in geographical records, located in the mountainous heart of the island, to the
south of the province of Auckland. The Waikato passes through this lake. From the
Waipa confluence to the lake, the river’s course was about one hundred and twenty
miles.!

Paganel, addressing John Mangles in French so as not to be understood by the
savages, asked him to estimate the speed of the boat. John told him it was about
three miles an hour.

“Then,” said the geographer, “if we stop at night, our journey to the lake will
take nearly four days.”

“But where are the English outposts located?” asked Glenarvan.

“It is difficult to say,” said Paganel. “But, the war has to have moved into the
province of Taranaki, and, in all probability, the troops are massed on that side of
the lake, behind the mountains, which have been the focus of the insurrection.”

“God grant it!” said Lady Helena.

Glenarvan glanced sadly at his young wife, at Mary Grant, exposed to the mercy
of these savage natives and carried away to a wild country far from any human
intervention. But he saw himself observed by Kai-Kamu, and, out of prudence, not
wishing to let him guess that one of the captives was his wife, he turned his
thoughts inward and observed the banks of the river with perfect indifference.

The boat had passed in front of the old residence of King Potatau without
stopping, half a mile above the confluence. No other boat was plying the waters of
the river. Some huts, widely spaced on the banks, testified by their disrepair to the
horrors of the recent war. The riparian countryside seemed abandoned, the banks
of the river were deserted. Some representatives of the family of waterfowl alone
animated this sad loneliness. Sometimes a pied stilt — a wading bird with black
wings, a white belly, and a red beak — fled on his long legs. Sometimes, herons of
three species: the grey matuku; a kind of stupid-looking bittern; and the
magnificent kotuku with white plumage, yellow bill, and black feet; peacefully
watched the native boat pass. Where the sloping banks showed enough depth to
the water, the kingfishers, the kotare in Maori, watched for the small eels that
wriggle by the millions in the rivers of New Zealand. Where the bushes were
overhanging the river, proud hoopoes, rallecs, and sultana hens had their morning
baths under the first rays of the sun. All the winged world enjoyed in peace the



leisure created by the absence of men, expelled or decimated by the war.

During this first part of its course, the Waikato flowed through wide, vast
plains. But upstream the hills, then the mountains, were going to narrow the valley
through which its bed had been dug. Ten miles above the Waipa, Paganel’s map
indicated the village of Kirikiriroa on the west bank, which was indeed there. Kai-
Kimu did not stop. He had the prisoners given their own food, which had been
taken in the looting of the camp. His warriors, his slaves, and he were satisfied
with the native food, edible ferns, the Pteridium esculentum to botanists, baked
roots, and kapanas, potatoes, which grew abundantly in the two islands. No
animal matter appeared in their meals, and the dried meat of the captives did not
seem to inspire them with any desire.

At three o’clock, a few mountains rose on the east bank, the Pokaroa Ranges,
which looked like a demolished curtain wall. Ruined pas, ancient entrenchments
erected by Maori engineers in impregnable positions were perched on rocky ridges.
They looked like giant eagles’ nests.

The sun was about to set below the horizon when the canoe landed on a bank
covered with pumice stones which the Waikato draws down its course from the
volcanic mountains. A few trees grew there which appeared to be suitable for
sheltering a camp. Kai-Kamu disembarked his prisoners, and the men had their
hands tied. The women remained free. All were placed at the centre of the
encampment, surrounded by fires which made an unbroken circle of light around
them.

Before Kai-Kamu had told his captives that he intended to exchange them,
Glenarvan and John Mangles had discussed ways to regain their freedom. While
no possibilities had presented themselves in the canoe, they had hoped to find an
opportunity in the night, once they landed and made camp.

But since Glenarvan had talked with the Maori chief, it seemed wise to abstain.
It was the most prudent course to wait. A prisoner exchange offered a chance at
salvation that did not involve an armed conflict, or a flight through these unknown
lands. Many events might arise which would delay or prevent such a negotiation,
but for now it was best to wait for that outcome. Indeed, what could ten unarmed
men do against thirty well-armed savages? Glenarvan, moreover, supposed that
Kai-Kimu'’s tribe had lost some chief of high value which he particularly wished to
get back, and he was not mistaken.

The next day the boat ascended the course of the river with new speed. At ten



o’clock they stopped for a moment at the confluence of the Pokaiwhenua, a small
river which meandered over the plains of the east bank.

A canoe, manned by ten natives, joined Kai-Kamu’s boat. The warriors barely
exchanged the arrival greeting, “aire mai ra,” which means “come well,” before the
two canoes continued together. The newcomers had recently fought against
English troops. It was seen in their ragged clothes, their bloody arms, the wounds
still bleeding under their rags. They were dark, and taciturn. With the natural
indifference of all savage peoples, they paid no attention to the Europeans.

At noon, the summit of Maungatautari appeared in the west. The Waikato
Valley was beginning to narrow. The river, tightly constrained, became powerful
rapids. But the strength of the natives, doubled and regularized by a song which
punctuated the beating of their paddles, pushed the boat over the foaming waters.
The rapids were overcome, and the Waikato resumed its slow course, only varied
from mile to mile by the winding of its banks.

Toward evening, Kai-Kamu landed at the foot of mountains whose first
buttresses fell steeply to the narrow banks. There, about twenty natives
disembarked from their canoes to make arrangements for the night. Fires were set
blazing under the trees. A chief, equal to Kai-Kamu, advanced with measured
steps, and, pressing his nose against Kai-Kimu’s, gave him the cordial greeting of
the hongi. The prisoners were placed in the centre of the camp and guarded with
extreme vigilance.

The next morning, this long voyage up the Waikato was resumed. Other boats
joined them, coming from the small tributaries of the river. About sixty warriors
were now assembled, fugitives from the latest battles of the insurrection, returning
to the mountains. Many suffered from greater or lesser wounds from English
bullets. Sometimes a song rose from the line of canoes. A native sang the patriotic
ode of the mysterious Pihe

“Papa ra te wati tidi
I diinga nei”

the national anthem that inspires the Maori in their war of independence.2 The
voice of the singer, full and sonorous, echoed off the mountains, and after each
verse, the natives would strike their chests, which resounded like a drum, and
joined the bellicose verse in chorus. Then, with renewed strength from the
paddlers, the canoes made way against the current and flew over the surface of the



waters.

A curious phenomenon marked this day of navigation on the river. About four
o’clock, the canoe, without hesitation or delaying its course, guided by the firm
hand of the chief, threw itself through a narrow valley. The swirling current raged
against numerous islets which made this section of the river especially dangerous.
But to capsize here was particularly undesirable, because the shore offered no
refuge. Anyone who stepped on the boiling mud of the banks would surely have
died.

The river flowed between hot springs, - —
which have always been known as a '
curiosity to tourists. Iron oxide coloured the
ooze of the banks bright red where a solid
foothold of tufa had not built up. The
atmosphere  was saturated with a
penetrating sulphurous odour. The natives
did not appear affected, but the captives
were seriously inconvenienced by the
miasmas issuing from the fissures in the
ground, and the bubbles which burst under
pressure from internal gases. But if it was
unpleasant to smell these emanations, the
eye could only admire this imposing
spectacle.

The boats ventured into the depths of a
cloud of white vapour. Its dazzling spirals
rose over the river. On its banks, about a
hundred geysers, some throwing clouds of
vapour, others pouring out columns of liquid, varied their displays like the jets and
cascades of a fountain designed by the hand of man. It seemed as if some
conductor was directing the intermittent play of these springs for his pleasure.
Water and vapour, merged in the air, were excited by the rays of the sun.

In this place, the Waikato was flowing on a moving bed which was constantly
boiling under the action of underground fire. Not far from Lake Rotorua, to the
east, roared the hot springs and steaming waterfalls of Lake Rotomahana and
Mount Tarawera, which have been seen by some bold travellers. This region is
pierced with geysers, craters, and solfataras. They provide another outlet for the

The river flowed between hot springs



overflow of gases that could not find an outlet in the insufficient valves of Mounts
Tongariro and Wakaari, the only active volcanoes of New Zealand.3

The native canoes sailed under this vault of vapour for two miles, enveloped in
the warm spirals which rolled on the surface of the waters. Then, the sulphurous
smoke dissipated, and pure air, drawn by the rapidity of the current, came to
refresh the panting breasts. They had passed beyond the hot springs.

Before the end of the day, the Hipapatua and Tamatea rapids were ascended
under the vigorous paddling of the savages. In the evening, Kai-Kimu camped a
hundred miles from the confluence of Waipa and Waikato. From here, their course
up the Waikato would first turn to the east, before swinging back to the south,
where the outflow from Lake Taupo fell into it.

The next day, Jacques Paganel,
consulting the map, identified Mount
Tauhara on the east bank, which rises over
three thousand feet above sea level.

At noon, the whole procession of boats
came to a widening of the river, and paddled
into Lake Taupo. The natives saluted a flap
of cloth which fluttered in the wind at the
top of a hut. It was the Maori flag.

1. 50 leagues, 200 kilometres — DAS
2. The line quoted from the song translates as “The
thunder above, bursts forth.”2
The pihe is a Maori funeral ode, often sung to mourn
the losses from a battle, not a national anthem. The
idea that this particular pihe is an anthem seems to
have originated with Dumont d’Urville, from his
study of the Maori in 1827.P
a. Williams, William. A Dictionary of
the New Zealand Language and a
Concise Grammar; to Which Is
Added a Selection of Colloquial Sentences. London: Williams and Norgate, 1852.
pg1io
b. McLean, Mervyn. Maori Music. Auckland: Auckland University Press, 1996, pg 71
3. New Zealand has many active volcanoes. Indeed, one of the largest eruptions in recorded New
Zealand history took place at Mount Tarawera, in 1886.
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Chapter XI
Lake Taupo

AN UNFATHOMABLE CHASM TWENTY-FIVE MILES LONG, AND TWENTY WIDE, WAS FORMED
long before historical times by a collapse of caverns in the middle of the
trachytic lavas of the centre of the island. The waters from the surrounding peaks
slowly filled this enormous cavity to become a lake, an abyss that no sounding line
has yet to plumb.1

Such is the strange Lake Taupo, 1,170 feet above sea level, and surrounded by a
cirque of mountains 2,400 feet high. To the west, the shore is dominated by sheer
rock cliffs; to the north are some distant tree covered peaks; to the east, a wide
beach crossed by a road decorated with pumice stones which shine under a lattice
of bushes; to the south, volcanic cones rise behind a foreground of forests. In the
heart of all this majesty lies a vast expanse of water, whose storms rival the
hurricanes of the oceans.

All this region boils like an immense cauldron suspended on subterranean
flames. The ground quivers under the caresses of the central fires. Steam issues
from the ground in many places. The crust of the earth splits in violent cracks like
dough that has risen too much, and no doubt this plateau would be ruined in an
incandescent furnace if, twelve miles further, the imprisoned vapours could not
find an exit through the craters of Tongariro.

From its north rim, this volcano appeared filled with smoke and flame above
small lava domes. Mount Tongariro was part of a complicated system of volcanoes.
Behind it, isolated in the midst of a plain, Mount Ruapahu rose nine thousand feet
in the air, its peak lost amid of the clouds. No mortal has set foot on its inaccessible
cone; no human eye has ever probed the depths of its crater,2 while, three times in
twenty years, Messrs. Bidwill and Dyson, and more recently Dr. von Hochstetter,
have measured the more accessible peaks of Tongariro.

These volcanoes have their legends, and, in any other circumstances, Paganel
would not have failed to tell them to his companions. He would have told them of
the argument that happened one day between Tongariro and Taranaki, then his
neighbour and friend, over the matter of a woman. Tongariro, who has a hot head,
like all volcanoes, went so far as to hit Taranaki. Taranaki, beaten and humiliated,
fled through the valley of the Whanganui, dropped two pieces of mountain on the
way, and reached the shores of the sea, where he rises solemnly under the name of
Mount Egmont.



But Paganel was hardly in a position to tell, nor were his friends in a mood to
listen to him. They silently watched the northeastern shore of Lake Taupo where
this most disappointing fate had just led them. Reverend Grace’s mission to
Pakawa, on the western shores of the lake, no longer existed. The minister had
been driven far from the heart of the insurrection by the war. The prisoners were
alone, abandoned, at the mercy of Maori greedy for reprisals, and in this wild
portion of the island where Christianity has never penetrated.

Kai-Kimu, leaving the waters of the Waikato, crossed the little cove which
serves as a funnel to the river, doubled a sharp promontory, and landed on the
eastern shore of the lake, at the foot of the first ripples of Maunganamu, an 1,800
foot, extinct volcano. There, fields of Phormium, what the natives call harakeke,
the precious flax of New Zealand, were spread out. Nothing is is wasted of this
useful plant. Its flower provides a kind of excellent nectar; its stem produces a
gummy substance, which replaces wax or starch; its leaves, more useful still, lend
themselves to many transformations: fresh, it serves as paper; desiccated, it makes
an excellent tinder; cut, it is made into ropes, cables and nets; divided into
filaments and combed, it becomes a blanket or mantle, mat or loincloth, and dyed
red or black, it dresses the most elegant Maori.

This precious Phormium is found everywhere in the two islands, from the
shores of the sea, to the banks of the rivers and lakes. Here its wild bushes covered
entire fields; its reddish brown, agave-like flower stalks rose out of an inextricable
clutter of its long leaves, which formed a trophy of sharp blades. Graceful birds,
nectar eaters, common in the Phormium fields, flew in numerous flocks and
delighted in the honeyed juice of the flowers.

Troops of black plumed ducks, dappled with grey and green, bobbed in the
waters of the lake. This species was easily domesticated.

A quarter of a mile away, on an escarpment of the mountain, appeared a pa, a
Maori fortress placed in an impregnable position. The prisoners were unloaded
one by one, their feet and hands freed, and led toward it by the warriors. The path
to the fortification crossed Phormium fields, and a grove of beautiful trees:
kahikatea, evergreens with red berries; Cordyline australis, the ti of the natives,
and commonly called the cabbage tree by the Europeans; and huious which
provides black dye for fabrics. Large doves with a metallic sheen, ashen kokako,
and a world of starlings with reddish wattles, flew away at the approach of the
natives.

After a long detour, Glenarvan, Lady Helena, Mary Grant and their companions



arrived inside the pa. =

This fortress was defended by an outer
palisade, fifteen feet high; a second line of |
stakes, then a wicker fence pierced with |
loopholes, enclosing an inner space — the
plateau of the pa — in which Maori buildings
and about forty huts were arranged
symmetrically.

On arriving there, the captives were
horribly impressed by the sight of the heads
that adorned the posts of the inner
enclosure. Lady Helena and Mary Grant
averted their eyes with more disgust than
horror. These heads had belonged to fallen
enemy leaders, whose bodies had served as
food for the victors.

The geographer recognized them as
such, from their empty eye sockets.

The eyes of a defeated chief are eaten.
The head is then prepared by removing its
brain and stripping away the skin. The nose is held in shape by small strips of
wood, the nostrils stuffed with Phormium, the mouth and the eyelids sewn closed,
and the head is smoked in an oven for thirty hours. Thus prepared, it is preserved
indefinitely without alteration or wrinkle, to make a trophy of victory.

Often the Maori keep the heads of their own chiefs, but in this case, the eyes
stay in their sockets and look out at the spectators. The New Zealanders display
these relics with pride; they offer them up for the admiration of young warriors,
and pay them a tribute of veneration with solemn ceremonies.

But, in Kai-Kimu’s pg, the enemy’s heads alone adorned this horrible museum,
and no doubt more than one English head with empty sockets had been added to
the collection of the Maori chief.

Kai-Kamu’s house rose between several huts of lesser importance at the bottom
of the pa, in front of a large open field, which some Europeans called “the field of
battle.” This house was built of poles caulked with intertwining branches, and
internally lined with mats of Phormium. Twenty feet long, fifteen feet wide, and
ten feet high, Kai-Kamu’s house was a dwelling of three thousand cubic feet. It

Lord Glenarvan and his companions arrived
inside the pa



does not take more to house a Maori leader.

A single opening gave access to the house; a swinging flap made of thick
vegetable fibre served as a door. Above, the roof extended in eaves away from the
walls. Some carved figures at the end of the rafters adorned the house, and the
whatitoka, or doorway offered a curious confusion of foliage, symbolic figures,
monsters, and foliated scrolls, created by the chisel of native decorators for the
visitors’ admiration.

Inside the house, the dirt floor was raised half a foot above the ground. A few
reed shelves, and dry fern mattresses covered with a mat woven with the long,
flexible leaves of Typha, served as beds. In the middle, a stone hole formed the
hearth, and in the roof, a second hole served as a chimney. The smoke, when it was
thick enough, finally decided to take advantage of this escape, but not without
placing a varnish of the most beautiful black on the walls of the house.

Next to the hut stood the storehouses which contained the chief’s provisions,
his harvest of Phormium, potatoes, taros, edible ferns, and the ovens in which the
various foods were cooked in contact with heated stones. Further on, in small
enclosures, were pigs and goats, rare descendants of the useful animals imported
by Captain Cook. Dogs ran here and there, begging for their meagre food. They
were poorly kept for beasts that daily serve as food for the Maori.

Glenarvan and his companions had taken in this scene at a glance. They waited
near an empty house for the pleasure of the chief, while being exposed to the
insults of a band of old women. This band of harpies surrounded them, threatened
them with their fists, howled, and shouted. A few words of English escaping from
their rude lips made it clear that they were demanding immediate vengeance.

In the midst of these shouts and threats, Lady Helena, seemingly tranquil,
affected a calm that could not be in her heart. This brave woman contained herself
with heroic efforts, to allow Lord Glenarvan to keep his own composure. Poor Mary
Grant felt faint, and John Mangles supported her, ready to die defending her. Their
companions variously endured this deluge of invective: with indifference, like the
Major, or with growing irritation, like Paganel.

Glenarvan, wishing to relieve Lady Helena from the assault of these old shrews,
walked straight to Kai-Kaumu, and pointing to the hideous group said “Send them
away.”

The Maori chief stared at his prisoner without answering him; then, with a
gesture, he silenced the screaming horde. Glenarvan bowed, as a sign of thanks,
and slowly returned to his place among his people.



At this moment, a hundred New Zealanders were gathered in the pa, old men,
adults, and youngsters. Some quiet, but dispirited, waiting for Kai-Kimu’s orders,
the others engaging in the most violent sorrow; they were crying for their parents
or friends fallen in the latest battles.

Kai-Kamu alone, of all the chiefs who had answered the call of William
Thompson, returned to the districts of the lake, and was the first to tell his tribe of
the defeat of the national insurrection, beaten in the lowlands of Waikato. Of the
two hundred warriors who, under his command, ran to the defence of the land, a
hundred and fifty were missing on their return. Even if some were prisoners of the
invaders, how many — lost on the field of battle — were never to return to the land
of their ancestors?

This explained the deep desolation that struck the tribe at the arrival of Kai-
Kumu. This was the first news to arrive of the latest defeat.

In savages, sorrow always manifests itself in physical demonstrations. Relatives
and friends of dead warriors, especially women, tore their faces and shoulders with
sharp shells. The blood gushed and mingled with their tears. The deep incisions
marked their great despair. The poor Maori women, bloody and maddened, were
horrible to see.

Their despair was increased even more for another reason, very serious in the
eyes of the natives. Not only was the parent or the friend they were mourning no
longer alive, but his bones couldn’t be placed in the family’s tomb. The disposition
of these remains is regarded, in the Maori religion, as indispensable to their
destinies in the afterlife. Not the perishable flesh, but the bones, which are
carefully collected, cleaned, scraped, polished, even varnished, and finally
deposited in the Udu pd, or “the house of glory.” These tombs are decorated with
wooden statues that reproduce with perfect fidelity the tattoos of the deceased. But
today the tombs would remain empty, the religious ceremonies would not be
fulfilled, and the bones spared from the teeth of wild dogs would whiten without
burial on the field of battle.

Their sorrow redoubled. The threats of the women against the Europeans
overcame the imprecations of the men. More insults burst forth, the gestures
became more violent. This outcry might be followed by acts of brutality.

Kai-Kamu, fearing to be overwhelmed by the fanatics of his tribe, had his
captives taken to a sacred place at the rear of the pad, on a steep plateau. This hut
backed against a massif that towered a hundred feet above the rest of the pa, which
fell away in steep slopes to the sides. In this Ware Atua, a consecrated house, the



priests or the arijis taught the Maori of a god in three persons, the father, the son,
and the bird or the spirit. The large well-built house contained the holy food
chosen for Maui-Rangi-Ranginui to eat through the mouths of their priests.3

There the captives, momentarily sheltered against the native fury, lay on
Phormium mats. Lady Helena, her strength exhausted, her moral energy
vanquished, sank into her husband’s arms. Glenarvan, pressing her to his chest,
repeated “Courage, my dear Helena. Heaven will not desert us!” to her.

They were barely shut in when Robert
climbed on Wilson’s shoulders, and
managed to slide his head through a gap
between the roof and the wall, where
rosaries of amulets hung. From there, he
could see across the pa to Kai-Kimu’s hut.

“They are gathered around the chief,” he
said in a low voice. “They wave their arms ...
they scream ... Kai-Kamu wants to speak ...”

The child was silent for a few minutes,
then he went on.

“Kai-Kimu speaks ... the savages are
calming down ... they are listening to him

“Of course,” said the Major. “This chief
has a personal interest in protecting us. He
wants to exchange his prisoners for the
leaders of his tribe! But will his warriors
consent?”

“Yes! ... They listen to him ...” said Robert. “They scatter ... some return to their
huts ... the others leave the fortress ...”

“Is that right?” asked the Major.

“Yes, Mr. MacNabbs,” said Robert. “Kai-Kiimu alone remains, with the warriors
of his boat. Ah! One of them comes to our hut.”

“Come down, Robert,” said Glenarvan.

At this moment Lady Helena, who had risen, seized her husband’s arm.
“Edward,” she said firmly, “neither Mary Grant nor I must fall alive into the hands
of these savages!”

And, with these words spoken, she handed Glenarvan a loaded revolver.

Robert climbed on Wilson’s shoulders



“A weapon!” exclaimed Glenarvan, a flash of lightning in his eyes.

“Yes! The Maori did not search their women prisoners! But this weapon is for
us, Edward, not for them!”

“Glenarvan,” said MacNabbs quickly, “hide that revolver! It’s not yet time.”

The revolver disappeared under the Lord’s clothes. The mat that closed the
entrance to the hut was raised. A native appeared.

He motioned the prisoners to follow him. Glenarvan and his people crossed the
pa in a tight group, and stopped in front of Kai-Kamu.

The principal warriors of his tribe were gathered around their chief. Among
them was the Maori whose boat joined Kai-Kamu’s at the confluence of the
Pokaiwhenua and the Waikato. He was a man of forty, vigorous, fierce, and cruel.
He was named Kdra-Téte, that is to say, “the irascible” in the Maori language. Kai-
Kimu treated him with some respect, and, by the fineness of his tattoos, it could be
seen that Kara-Téte was high in the tribes. A careful observer would have also
guessed that there was a rivalry between these two leaders. The Major observed
that the influence of Kara-Téte annoyed Kai-Kimu. They both commanded
important tribes of Waikatos with equal authority, but during their conversation,
Kai-Kamu’s mouth smiled, but his eyes betrayed a deep enmity.

Kai-Kaimu questioned Glenarvan. “You are English?” he asked.

“Yes,” replied the Lord without hesitation, for that nationality would render an
exchange easier.

“And your companions?” asked Kai-Kamu.

“My companions are English, like me. We are travellers, shipwrecked. But, if
you want to know, we did not take part in the war.”

“It does not matter!” said Kara-Téte roughly. “All English are our enemies. You
have invaded our island! You have burned our villages!”

“They were wrong!” said Glenarvan in a grave voice. “I say this because I
believe it, and not because I am in your power.”

“Listen,” said Kai-Kamu, “the Tohunga, the high priest of Nui Atua# , fell into
the hands of your brothers; he is a prisoner of the Pikeha>. Our god commands us
to redeem his life. I would have liked to tear your heart out, I would have wanted
your head and the heads of your companions to be eternally suspended on the
posts of this palisade! But Nui Atua spoke.”

In speaking thus, Kai-Kamu, hitherto master of himself, trembled with anger,
and his countenance was imbued with ferocious exaltation.

Then, after a few moments, he went on coldly “Do you think the English will



exchange our Tohunga for you?”

Glenarvan hesitated to answer, and watched the Maori chief carefully.

“I do not know,” he said, after a moment’s silence.

“Speak,” said Kai-Kamu. “Is your life worth the life of our Tohunga?”

“No,” replied Glenarvan. “I am neither a leader nor a priest among mine!”

Paganel, stunned by this answer, looked at Glenarvan with profound
astonishment.

Kai-Kimu also seemed surprised. “So, you do not know?” he said.

“I do not know,” repeated Glenarvan.

“Your people will not accept you in exchange for our Tohunga?”

“Only me? No,” repeated Glenarvan. “All of us, maybe.”

“The Maori,” said Kai-Kamu, “trade prisoners head for head.”

“Offer these women first in exchange for your priest,” said Glenarvan, pointing
to Lady Helena and Mary Grant.

Lady Helena wanted to run to her husband. The Major held her back.

“These two ladies,” said Glenarvan, bowing with respectful grace to Lady
Helena and Mary Grant, “rank high in their country.”

The warrior looked coldly at his prisoner. A perverse smile passed on his lips;
but he repressed it almost immediately, and replied in a voice which he scarcely
contained. “Do you hope to deceive Kai-Kimu by false words, cursed European?
Do you think that Kai-Kiimu’s eyes cannot read your hearts?”

And, pointing to Lady Helena “Here is your wife!” he said.

“No! Mine!” exclaimed Kara-Téte. Then, pushing back the prisoners, his hand
came down on Lady Helena’s shoulder, who turned pale under this touch.

“Edward!” cried the distraught woman.

Glenarvan, without uttering a single word, raised his arm. A shot rang out.
Kara-Téte fell dead.

At this detonation, a flood of natives came out of the huts. The pa filled in an
instant. One hundred arms were raised against Glenarvan and the revolver was
torn from his hand.

Kai-Kamu gave Glenarvan a strange look; then, with one hand raised over
Glenarvan, and the other toward the onrushing crowd he called out “Tapu!
Tapu!”®in a dominating voice.

At this word, the crowd stopped before Glenarvan and his companions,
momentarily protected by a supernatural power.

A few moments later, they were escorted back to the Ware Atua, which served



as their prison. But Robert Grant and
Jacques Paganel were no longer with them.

1. The entire Lake Taupo region is the caldera of a
super-volcano, and while the lake may have been
unplumbed in Verne’s time, it isn’t really all that
deep, with an average depth of 110 metres, and a
maximum depth of 186 metres — DAS

2. This “inaccessible cone” was first climbed in 1879.
Now there are ski resorts on its slopes, and it doubled
for Mount Doom in the Lord of the Rings films —
DAS

3. Verne seems to be trying too hard to draw parallels
between Maori and Christian mythology here, with
this parallel between some Maori gods and the
Christian Trinity. In Maori mythology Maui is a hero
demigod, who, among other things, pulled the Island
of Te Ika-a-Maui (Maui’s fish) out of the sea when
fishing one day. Rangi and Ranginui are alternate
names of the sky father creator god. (Meaning “sky”
and “great sky” respectively) — DAS

4. Name of the Maori god. ;

Not really. The Maori have several “Tapu! Tapu! called out Kai-Kumu

gods, but “Nui Atua” doesn’t seem

to be one of them. Literally it means “great god.” Since the introduction of
Christianity, “Atua” has come to mean the Christian God — DAS

5. Europeans.
6. Verne had Kai-Kamu saving “Tabou” here, but as that is a loan word into French from the

Polynesian/Maori “Tapu.” I kept Kai-Kiimu speaking Maori — DAS




Chapter XII
The Funeral of a Maori Chief

AI-KUMU, FOLLOWING A RATHER COMMON PRACTICE IN NEW ZEALAND, WAS THE ARIKI AS

well as the chief of the tribe. He was clothed with the dignity of a priest, and as
such he could extend the superstitious protection of the tapu over persons or
objects.!

The tapu, common to Polynesian peoples, has the immediate effect of
prohibiting any use of, or relationship with, the object or person under the tapu.
According to the Maori religion, anyone who lays a sacrilegious hand on what has
been declared tapu could be punished with death by an angry god. And if the god is
slow to avenge their own insult, the priests can step in to do it for them.

The tapu may be applied by a chief for political reasons, or it may come about
from the ordinary events of everyday life. In many circumstances a native is tapu
for a few days when he cuts his hair, when he has just received a tattoo, when he
builds a canoe, when he builds a house, when he has a life-threatening illness, and
when he is dead. If over consumption threatens to depopulate a river of its fish, or
to ruin the future production of a field of sweet potatoes, these objects are struck
with a tapu protection for economic reasons. If a leader wants to remove
unwelcome guests from his house, he tapus them; to monopolize trade with a
foreign ship for himself, he declares it tapu; to quarantine a European trader he is
discontent with, he tapus. Its prohibition then resembles the old “veto” of kings.

When an object is tapu, no one may touch it with impunity. When a native is
subject to this prohibition, he may be forbidden from touching certain foods for a
period of time. If he is rich, he may be relieved of this severe diet by having his
slaves feed him the foods he must not touch with his hands. If he is poor, he is
reduced to picking up his food with his mouth, and the tapu reduces him to the
status of an animal.

This singular custom directs and controls the smallest actions of the Maori. It is
an incessant intervention of the divine in daily life. It is the law of the Maori. The
frequent application of the tapu is the indisputable and undisputed native code.

For the captives imprisoned in the Ware Atua, it was an arbitrary tapu which
had saved them from the fury of the tribe. Some of the natives, Kai-Kiimu’s friends
and partisans, had suddenly stopped at the voice of their chief and had protected
the prisoners.

Glenarvan was not under any illusion as to what was going to happen to him.



His death alone could pay for the killing of a chief, and death among savage
peoples only comes at the end of a long ordeal. Glenarvan expected that he would
have to atone for the legitimate indignation which had motivated his action, but he
hoped that Kai-Kiamu’s anger would only strike him.

The night passed anxiously for Glenarvan and his companions. Who could
picture their agony or measure their suffering? Poor Robert, and the brave Paganel
had not reappeared. What was their fate? Were they the first victims sacrificed to
the vengeance of the natives? All hope had disappeared, even from the heart of
MacNabbs, who did not despair easily. John Mangles felt himself going crazy at the
misery and despair of Mary Grant, separated from her brother. Glenarvan was
thinking of the terrible request from Lady Helena, who in order to escape torture
or slavery, wanted to die at his hand! Would he have the courage to carry out such
a horrible act?

“And Mary, do I have the right to kill her?” thought John, his heart breaking.

Escape was obviously impossible. Ten warriors, armed to the teeth, watched at
the door of the Ware Atua.

The morning of February 13t arrived. No communication had taken place
between the natives and the prisoners forbidden by the tapu. The hut contained
some food which the poor inmates barely touched. Misery deadened the pangs of
hunger. The day passed without bringing any change, or hope. Doubtless the hour
of the dead man’s funeral and the hour of torture were to ring together.

However, if Glenarvan believed that Kai-Kimu had given up all his ideas of a
prisoner exchange, the Major still held a glimmer of hope. “Who knows,” he said,
reminding Glenarvan of the strange expression that had crossed Kai-Kamu’s face
on the death of Kara-Téte. “Maybe Kai-Kimu really does feel obliged to you?”

But, despite MacNabbs’ observation, Glenarvan did not want to hope anymore.
Another day passed without any preparations for torture being revealed. There was
a reason for this delay.

The Maori believe that the soul lives on in the body of the deceased for three
days following death, so the corpse remains unburied for seventy-two hours. This
custom of delayed burial was rigorously observed. The pZ remained deserted until
February 15, John Mangles, hoisted on Wilson’s shoulders, often observed the
outer fortifications. No natives could be seen there. The only ones he saw were the
sentinels, relieving each other on guard at the door of the Ware Atua.

But on the third day the huts opened. The savages, men, women, and children,



several hundred Maori in all, gathered in the pa, silent and calm.

Kai-Kimu came out of his hut, and surrounded by the principal chiefs of his
tribe, he took his place on a mound raised a few feet in the centre of the
fortification. The crowd of natives formed a semicircle a few yards back. The whole
assembly kept an absolute silence.

At a sign from Kai-Kamu, a warrior made his way to the Ware Atua.

“Remember,” Lady Helena said to her husband.

Glenarvan hugged his wife to his heart. At this moment, Mary Grant
approached John Mangles.

“Lord and Lady Glenarvan,” she said, “will think that if a woman can die from
her husband’s hand to escape a shameful existence, a fiancée can die from her
fiancé’s hand as well, to escape in her turn. John, you can tell me, in this final
moment, have I not long been your betrothed in the secret of your heart? Can I
count on you, dear John, like Lady Helena counts on Lord Glenarvan?”

“Mary!” cried the distraught young captain. “Oh! Dear Mary—"

He could not finish. The mat was raised, and the captives were dragged toward
Kai-Kimu. The two women were resigned to their fate. The men concealed their
anxieties in a superhuman calm.

They arrived in front of the Maori chief. He did not delay passing his
judgement.

“You killed Kara-Téte?” he asked Glenarvan.

“I killed him,” replied the Lord.

“Tomorrow, you will die at sunrise.”

“Only me?” asked Glenarvan, whose heart beat violently.

“Ah! If only the life of our Tohonga was not more precious than yours!”
exclaimed Kai-Kimu, whose eyes expressed a fierce regret.

There was agitation among the natives. Glenarvan glanced quickly around. The
crowd parted, and a warrior appeared, dripping with sweat, panting with fatigue.

Kai-Kiimu, as soon as he saw him, spoke to him in English, with the evident
intention of being understood by the captives “You come from the camp of the
Pakehas?”

“Yes,” said the Maori.

“You saw the prisoner, our Tohonga?”

“I saw him.”

“He is alive?”

“He is dead! The English shot him!”



It was all over for Glenarvan and his companions.

“All!” cried Kai-Kumu. “You will all die tomorrow at dawn!”

Thus, these poor souls would all suffer a common fate. Lady Helena and Mary
Grant looked up at the sky with sublime thanks.

The captives were not taken back to the Ware Atua. They were to attend Kara-
Téte’s funeral and the bloody ceremonies that would accompany it. A troop of
natives led them a few steps to the foot of a huge koudi pine tree. Their guards
remained, keeping watch over them. The rest of the Maori tribe, absorbed in their
official grief, seemed to have forgotten them.

Three days had passed since the death of Kara-Téte. The soul of the deceased
warrior had finally abandoned his mortal remains. The ceremony began.

The body was brought to a small knoll in the middle of the pa. He was dressed
in lavish garments and wrapped in a beautiful mat of Phormium. His head,
decorated with feathers, wore a crown of green leaves. His face, arms, and chest
had been rubbed with oil, and showed no sign of decay.

The family and friends arrived at the foot of the hillock, and as one, as if some
conductor was beating the measure of the funeral song, an immense concert of
tears, moans, and sobs rose in the air. They were crying for the deceased with a
plaintive, doleful rhythm. His kinsmen beat their heads; his kinswomen tore at
their faces with their nails. They were more prodigal with their blood, than with
tears.

These pitiful women conscientiously performed this savage duty, but these
demonstrations were not enough to appease the soul of the deceased, whose wrath
would undoubtedly have struck the survivors of his tribe. His warriors, unable to
return him to life, wanted him to have no regrets of earthly existence in the other
world. Kara-Téte’s wife was not to abandon her husband in the grave. The poor
woman would have refused to survive him. This was her duty, in accord with their
custom, and examples of such sacrifices are common in the history of New
Zealand.

The woman appeared. She was still young. Her disordered hair floated around
her shoulders. Her sobs and cries rose to the sky: incoherent words, regrets,
broken phrases in which she celebrated the virtues of the dead, interrupted by
moans. She lay at the foot of the knoll, beating the ground with her head in a
supreme paroxysm of sorrow.

Kai-Kimu approached her. Suddenly the unfortunate victim rose; but a violent
blow of the mere, a formidable club, whirling in the chief’s hand, threw her to the



ground. She fell as if thunderstruck.

A terrible cry arose. A hundred men threatened the captives, terrified by this
horrible spectacle, but no one moved because the funeral ceremony was not
finished.

Kara-Téte’s wife had joined her husband in death. The two bodies remained
lying close to each other. But for eternal life, it was not enough for the deceased to
just have his faithful wife. Who would serve them in the presence of Nui Atua, if
their slaves did not follow them from this world to the next?

Six wretches were brought before the corpses of their masters. They were
servants whom the pitiless laws of war had reduced to slavery. During the chief’s
life, they had suffered the harshest privations, suffered a thousand mistreatments,
scarcely fed, constantly used as beasts of burden, and now, according to Maori
belief, they were going to continue their slavery for all eternity.

These unfortunate people were resigned to their fate. They were not surprised
by this long-awaited sacrifice. Their hands, free from all restraint, testified that
they would not defend themselves.

Their deaths were quick. They were spared from long suffering. Torture was
reserved for the authors of the murder, who, grouped twenty paces away, averted
their eyes from this dreadful spectacle, the horror of which was about to increase.

Six blows from a mere, carried out by the hands of six strong warriors, laid the
victims on the ground in the middle of a pool of blood.

This was the signal to begin a terrible scene of cannibalism.

The body of a slave is not protected by the tapu like the body of the master. It
belongs to the tribe. It is the small change thrown to mourners. Also, the sacrifice
to be consumed. The whole group of natives, chiefs, warriors, old men, women,
and children, without distinction of age or sex, were seized with a bestial fury. They
rushed upon the lifeless remains of the victims. In less time than a quick pen could
trace it, the bodies, still warm, were torn apart, divided, cut up, not into slices, but
into slivers. Of the two hundred Maori present at the sacrifice, each had his share
of human flesh. They wrestled, struggled, and competed for the slightest scraps.
Drops of hot blood spattered these monstrous revellers, and all this disgusting
horde swarmed in a red rain. It was the madness and fury of fierce tigers on their
prey. It was like a circus in which the gladiators devoured the wild beasts.

Twenty fires were lit around the pa, and the smell of burnt meat filled the air.
Without the dreadful tumult of this feast, without the cries still escaping from the
throats engorged with flesh, the prisoners would have heard the bones of the



victims cracking between the teeth of the
cannibals.

Glenarvan and his companions,
breathless, tried to hide this abominable
scene from the eyes of the two poor women.
They understood then what torture awaited
them the next day at sunrise, and, without
doubt, what cruel tortures would proceed
such a death. They were struck dumb with
horror.

The funeral dances began. Strong
liqueurs, distilled from the Piper excelsum,
true spirit of pepper, intoxicated the
savages. They seemed completely inhuman.
Would they, forgetting the tapu of the chief,
turn in their delirium on the prisoners, who
were already terrified by this horrible scene?
But Kai-Kimu had kept his wits in the midst
of the general drunkenness. He let this orgy
of blood play out for an hour. After peaking
in intensity, it faded away again, and the last act of the funeral took place with the
usual ceremony.

The corpses of Kara-Téte and his wife were raised, their limbs bent and
gathered against their bellies, according to the custom of the Maori. It was now
time to bury them, not permanently, but until the earth, having devoured the flesh,
left nothing but bones.

The location of the Udu pd, that is to say, the tomb, was chosen outside the
fortification, at the top of a small mountain called Maunganamu situated on the
east bank of the lake, about two miles away.

The bodies were to be transported there, carried on primitive palanquins, little
more than stretchers. The corpses were placed on them, folded on themselves in a
seated position, rather than lying down, and held that way in their clothes by a
circle of lianas. Four warriors lifted the palanq